
Value
within

ReachOur

2009 ANNUAL REPORT

Calvalley Petroleum InC.



Ethiopia

Yemen

UniqUely Positioned in yemen With near-term 
material ProdUction GroWth Potential From 
excitinG discoveries and lonGer-term UPside 
From a Broad PortFolio oF exPloration tarGets. 
Calvalley utilizes a blend of exploration and development to create value for shareholders 

in the short, medium and long term. Exploration success in Yemen has led to development 

of the Hiswah, Al Roidhat, Auqban, and Ras Noor fields and has set the stage for future 

appraisal of recent discoveries at Qarn Qaymah and Ras Nowmah. Continued development 

of existing fields finances exploration activities in Yemen and Ethiopia.

02  Discovering Our 
Value

04  Financial and 
Operating 
Highlights

06  Chairman and 
Chief Executive 
Of ficer’s 
Message

08  Operations 
Review

18  Operations 
Statistical 
Review

19  Management’s 
Discussion and 
Analysis

42  Consolidated 
Financial 
Statements

45  Notes to the 
Consolidated 
Financial 
Statements

Note:  All currency references 
are in United States 
dollars unless otherwise 
indicated.



1
2009 AnnuAl report

Calvalley was focused on relieving the key bottlenecks 

to increasing production levels. existing agreements 

restricted the production levels which could be achieved at Hiswah and caused 

the Company to keep production shut-in at Al roidhat. Key terms of agreements 

were negotiated during 2009 which will allow the Company to direct its focus 

toward production and reserves increases. Calvalley increased its proved plus 

probable oil reserves by 8% year-over-year (11% including produced reserves in 

2009) to 26.5 million bbls at December 31, 2009.  

In 2009

Operations at Al Roidhat.
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Focused 
InternatIonal JunIor

Calvalley’s expertise lies in its 

operating capabilities in the  

middle east and Africa. the 

Company understands the 

technical, business, operational  

and cultural aspects of the oil and 

natural gas sector in the region. 

Calvalley continues to evaluate 

additional opportunities in the 

region to further lever  

this expertise.

exploratIon 
success

to date, the Company has drilled 

67 wells on Block 9, of which 

18 have been exploration wells. 

our exploration success rate 

has been 73%. each of the five 

abandoned wells also encountered 

hydrocarbons but not in economic 

quantities. the exploration program 

has resulted in the discovery of 

eight fields. 

development &  
appraIsal Inventory

Calvalley has a low-risk development 

inventory of more than 65 well 

locations to fully develop the 

Hiswah and Al roidhat fields. 

Several appraisal locations have 

been identified in Qarn Qaymah  

and ras nowmah. 

ImmedIate 
productIon growth

the recent conclusion of a 

transportation agreement for 

blended 26º ApI crude oil from 

Block 9 will allow Calvalley to 

commence production from the  

Al roidhat wells that have been 

shut in since the pool’s discovery  

in 2003 as soon as trucking 

facilities are constructed to 

receive the oil at Block 51. the 

first oil delivery from roidhat field 

is expected to occur in the third 

quarter of 2010.

long-term 
exploratIon upsIde

Calvalley is continuously evaluating 

and high-grading its inventory 

of exploration targets based on 

reinterpretation of seismic data 

and drilling results. the Company 

currently has 47 prospects and 

leads and expects to drill up to 

six exploration and appraisal wells 

during 2010. 

Old architecture near Block 9.

Storage tanks at the central 
processing facility.

Discovering Our 
value
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transportatIon  
agreements In place

Calvalley directed significant effort during 2009 

to concluding agreements that would enable the 

Company to commence production of its heavy 

oil. these agreements were finalized subsequent 

to year-end and will enable Calvalley to transport 

blended crude of 26° ApI or better to market 

through the masila facility. Calvalley’s crude 

will receive the price of masila Blend, which is 

currently sold at approximately a $1/bbl premium 

to Dated Brent crude. 

long reserve lIFe

Calvalley’s reserve life index was 34 years on 

proved plus probable reserves at year-end 2009 

(based on the 2009 average production rate). 

ramp-up of daily production volumes through 

additional drilling activity should increase the rate 

at which Calvalley is able to produce its reserves.

exposure to commodIty  
prIce upsIde

Being a low-cost operator keeps Calvalley highly 

levered to commodity price upside. A $10-per-barrel 

increase in average annual crude oil prices  

is estimated to increase annual net income by  

$5 million ($0.05 per share), based on an  

average new working interest production level of 

2,500 bopd in 2010. As the production increases 

with the completion of truck offloading facilities 

at Block 51, the leverage to commodity prices is 

expected to increase.

Calvalley’s central processing facility, 
pipeyard and buildings – Block 9.

Separator at Calvalley’s central processing facility.
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Years ended December 31, 2009 2008 change

 $ $ % 

Sales revenues, net of royalties ($000s) 31,354 46,246 (32.2)

Funds flow from operations ($000s) 13,600 31,131 (56.3)

Cash flow from operating activities ($000s) 13,971 37,219 (62.5)

net income ($000s) 2,951 19,161 (84.6)

Shares outstanding (millions) at December 31 98.2 100.3 (2.1)

Weighted average shares outstanding (millions) 98.9 101.0 (2.1)

per common share (basic)

 Funds flow ($/share) 0.14 0.31 (54.8)

 Cash flow ($/share) 0.14 0.37 (62.2)

 net income ($/share) 0.03 0.19 (84.2)

 production (bbls/share) 0.008 0.008 –

 proved + probable reserves (bbls/share) 0.27 0.25 10.0

Cash and GICs ($000s) 70,426 63,735 10.5

total assets at year-end ($000s) 172,991 172,406 –

long-term debt – – –

oil production (bopd) 2,160 2,261 (4.5)

exploration and development spending ($000s) 11,803 27,504 (57.1)

Year-end proved + probable reserves (mmbbls) 26,540 24,623 7.8

reserve replacement ratio (proved + probable) 343% 1,064% (67.8)

Wells drilled (number) 3 8 (62.5)

realized oil price ($/bbl) 57.08 108.23 (47.3)

Dated Brent oil price ($/bbl) 61.67 96.99 (36.4)

note:  All currency references are in united States dollars unless otherwise indicated.

Financial and Operating Highlights
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Calvalley continues to expand its reserve base by targeting new 

exploration prospects. the 2009 reserves increase was remarkable 

considering only three wells were drilled during the year. these  

three wells increased Calvalley’s proved plus probable reserves by 

nearly 2 million barrels, replacing the year’s production by nearly 

three-and-a-half times and increasing our reserve-life-index at  

year-end to 34 years. 

 

reserve replacement  
ratIo (2p) on 2009 average 

productIon

343%

Calvalley has funded its capital program from cash flow and  

has remained free of long-term debt. the Company’s strong cash 

position is available to fund major capital requirements.

 

cash and gIcs
at year-end 2009

$70
million

 

realIzed oIl prIce
on decemBer 2009 sales

$73.89
/bbl

Calvalley’s realized oil price is based on Dated Brent.  the recovery 

in oil prices during 2009 contributed to Calvalley’s increased cash 

flow during the second half of the year.  prices remain strong and are 

expected to continue the trend.  Calvalley’s crude will continue to be 

sold at attractive prices in relation to Dated Brent pricing.  

Calvalley maintains its strong balance sheet, free of debt and  

able to internally finance its capital program. low debt is always  

an advantage, but is particularly so during periods of capital  

market uncertainty and lower commodity prices, as we experienced 

during 2009. low debt and a strong cash position create financial 

flexibility to pursue exploration and development opportunities and 

maximize the financial benefits of production growth.

 

long-term deBt
at year-end 2009

$0
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Fellow 
InveSTORS

Chairman and Chief executive Officer’s Message

Two-thousand-nine was an important year in the evolution of Calvalley. Your management 

team was focused on several key initiatives that we expect to enhance the value of 

your assets. This includes the critical crude oil transportation agreements in Yemen. 

Our key emphasis is now focused on turning the reserves in the ground into cash flow.  

Our 2010 budget focuses on increasing production. 

In response to the significant drop in average oil 

prices from 2008 to 2009, we exercised tight cost 

controls throughout the year and were thereby able to 

maintain a very healthy balance sheet, including cash 

and GIC’s of $70.4 million and zero long-term debt 

entering 2010. We have also been actively evaluating 

the potential acquisition of additional assets in the 

middle east and Africa and have completed initial 

geological assessments of the Gimbi and metema 

blocks in ethiopia.

our key achievements in 2009 toward realizing  

the value in Yemen were:

•  Completion of the crude transportation agreements 

to allow access to the market for  

all qualities of crude discovered on Block 9; and

•  Testing of the Qarn Qaymah 2 prospect, which 

confirmed the presence of gas, condensate and 

light oil.

uncertainty in the global economic climate and 

the absence of an adequate arrangement to move 

all crude discovered on Block 9 caused delays in 

capital spending and, as a result, the drilling program 

for Block 9 was slower than originally planned. 

management was reluctant to risk capital until 

signs of recovery began to emerge and the new 

transportation agreements were concluded. this 

slowdown in drilling activity expedited the resolution 

of the transportation of all qualities of crude oil 

discovered within Block 9. these negotiations took 

a great deal of time and effort to finalize due to 

the complexity of the negotiations and the number 

of parties involved. the slowdown also allowed us 

to continue to high-grade our inventory of drilling 

locations. In 2009, we drilled three wells, including 

the ras nowmah exploration well and tested  

Qarn Qaymah. 

So far in 2010, we have started to realize the 

benefits of the tremendous effort that was spent over 

the previous years in negotiating a transportation 

agreement for blended crude from Block 9. this 

milestone will accelerate the achievement of several 

key success factors for the Company. 
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It will enable Calvalley to:

•  Increase production commencing in the third 

quarter of 2010 by blending heavy oil production 

from the Al roidhat field into the lighter stream  

of Hiswah;

•  Significantly decrease operating costs per barrel  

of production once construction of the pipeline  

has been completed; and

•  Allow senior management to focus on other 

strategic initiatives to increase production in  

Yemen and elsewhere.

I would like to thank the Calvalley team and the  

Board of Directors for their achievements during  

2009 and their continuing efforts to maximize 

shareholder value.

Sincerely,

edmund Shimoon

Chairman and Chief executive officer

march 25, 2010

(signed) “edmund Shimoon”
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Operations Review

2009
Milestones

2009 executIonstrategy

Increase total production by concluding a 
marketing agreement for heavy crude from the 
Al Roidhat field.

Transportation Agreement Successfully Completed - Complex multi-party negotiations were 
held throughout 2009 and culminated in the execution of all transportation agreements during 
February, 2010.  As a result, Calvalley will be able to ship blended crude (26° API) to Block 
51 at a premium price to Brent.  This will enable Calvalley to commence production from all 
Block 9 fields including heavy oil from the Al Roidhat field.

Complete the initial phase of the pressure 
maintenance program (water and gas injection) 
to commence full-field development at Hiswah.

Water Injection - The first pilot water injection test was successfully completed.  The second 
pilot test results are currently being evaluated for optimal injectivity rate.   

Gas Injection – Field-related work, including selection of an injection well and construction 
of a natural gas line from CPF to the gas injector was completed. The construction of the gas 
compressor was delayed but is progressing.

Continue to add new reserves and production 
through new exploration and development.

Growth Momentum Continued - Despite limited drilling activities due to the state of the 
global economy, Calvalley added 11 percent and 14 percent new reserves to 2P and 3P 
reserves categories respectively. 

Fully evaluate the Qarn Qaymah discovery 
through additional testing of the fractured 
basement and completion of the Kohlan sands 
gas/condensate discovery.

QQ-2 Test Confirmed the Presence of Significant Oil/Gas Column - Extended flow testing 
was conducted on the fractured basement and Kohlan sands, confirming the discovery in 
both zones with the well flowing oil, condensate and gas to the surface. Calvalley plans to drill 
additional appraisal wells in order to implement full field development.   

Develop an appraisal program in the Qarn 
Qaymah area, based on test results from QQ-2, 
which will include a 3D seismic program and 
future well locations.

Larger Mapped Structures and Future Development Plan  - With the positive results  
of the QQ-2 flow test, drilling activities in the adjacent block and re-interpretation of  
2D seismic,  Calvalley’s technical team has mapped larger structures. These changes  
are being incorporated into a future appraisal and development plan.

Drill a minimum of two exploration locations 
on Block 9.

Exploration Success – The only exploration well drilled during 2009 was  at Ras Nowmah 
resulted in technical discoveries in the Qishn clastics and Saar carbonates.

High-grade the existing exploration portfolio of 
42 prospects and leads.

Increasing Opportunities - Calvalley’s inventory of prospects has increased to 47.  The 
QQ-2 test and Ras Nowmah drilling results have helped the technical team to high grade the 
inventory. 

Undertake a gravity/magnetic survey at 
Metema and Gimbi blocks in Ethiopia.

Initial geological work underway in Ethiopia - Calvalley has completed the first phase 
surface geological work on both Metema and Gimbi Blocks. However, the gravity/magnetic 
survey was deferred into 2010.

Continue to take advantage of Calvalley’s 
strong balance sheet and its international 
operating experience by continuing to evaluate 
the potential acquisition of additional assets in 
the Middle East and Africa.

Despite having evaluated a number of potential acquisition targets, the company was unable 
to find suitable assets that would complement its portfolio. Calvalley is continuing to pursue 
other opportunities.
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2010

mId/long-term outlooK2010 delIveraBles

Transportation – Complete construction of truck offloading facility to 
commence trucking of blended crude to Block 51 by the end of the 
third quarter of 2010.

Engineering studies will commence in 2010 for the construction of a 
pipeline to ship blended crude to the Masila system.

Ras Nowmah – Complete appraisal of Ras Nowmah structure.
Drill up to two appraisal wells during 2010 to delineate reserves and 
begin planning for full field development.

Qarn Qaymah – Conduct operations to provide further appraisal of the 
Qarn Qaymah structure.

Drill up to four additional exploration/appraisal wells during 2010 to 
delineate reserves and begin planning for full field development.

Al Roidhat – Upon completion of the truck offloading facility, 
commence production from the shut-in wells.

Drill up to eight additional development wells during 2010 to boost 
production. Up to 50 additional wells could be drilled on 10-acre 
spacing units.

Hiswah – Drill up to six development wells and commence water 
injection and gas injection to maintain reservoir pressure and increase 
recoverability.

Drill up to an additional 20 development wells.

Auqban – Acidize Auqban 1 to attempt to increase production from 
the tight formation.

Appraisal and development work to follow, depending on results of 
acidizing treatment.

Ethiopia – Complete geological mapping and conduct an airborne 
gravity survey during the second half of 2010.

Commence seismic program in late 2010/early 2011. Expect to drill 
the first well in late 2011/early 2012.

Calvalley employee taking a sample of 
condensate production at Qarn Qaymah.
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Block 9 in Yemen is Calvalley’s core 

asset. the Block currently generates all 

of the Company’s production. Additional 

development and exploration activities 

are ongoing on the Block to increase 

reserves and production.

Calvalley has large acreage in ethiopia. 

exploration in the area is risky due to 

the country’s lack of previous energy 

sector activity. the general geology in 

the area and proximity to production 

in Sudan show the potential for the 

presence of hydrocarbons. 

•  Increased reserves from 2008.

•  Confirmed hydrocarbons at Qarn Qaymah and ras nowmah.

•  Advanced transportation agreement negotiations to final 

stages.

•  Commenced construction and testing of pressure 

maintenance facilities.

•  Finalized crude oil transportation agreement in Q1.

•  Continue to increase reserves through appraisal and 

development drilling and pressure maintenance.

•  Complete construction of the truck offloading facility.

•  Increase production from wells currently shut-in at Hiswah 

and Al roidhat.

•  Drill additional exploration, appraisal and development wells.

• Full-scale surface geological mapping.

• Airborne gravity survey in second half of 2010. 

• 2010 capital budget of $1.4 million.

• Commence seismic program in 2010/2011. 

• Drill first well late 2011/early 2012.

2009 mIlestones

•  established an office in Addis Ababa.

•  Completed initial geological mapping based on satellite 

imagery and government maps.

2009 mIlestones

2010 actIvIty

2010 and Beyond actIvIty

y
em

en
eth
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p
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saudi arabia

Kuwait

syria

turkey

Jordan

Iran

Iraq

egypt

sudan eritrea

Kenyauganda

oman

Indian 
Ocean 

Gulf of 
Aden 

Red 
Sea

somalia

Yemen

Sana’a

etHIopIA

Addis Ababa

metema

gImBI

BlocK 9
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al roIdhat

Development of Al roidhat continued in preparation 

for the finalization of the transportation agreements 

for blended crude. Calvalley worked over the four 

wells which had previously been completed and 

tested and completed three additional wells. 

extended production tests were conducted to  

better understand the sustainable production 

capability of the wells and the field. Six wells are 

fully equipped and ready to commence production 

as soon as the toF is completed at Block 51. 

production from these wells will be accumulated at 

the field storage tanks and will then be transported 

by tanker truck to the central processing facility 

(CpF) for blending with lighter oil produced by  

other fields. 

hIswah

two development wells were drilled at Hiswah 

during 2009. the wells proved to be excellent 

producers as a result of our improved reservoir 

modeling and completion techniques. the successful 

results from these two wells generated an upward 

revision of recoverable reserves from the field by 

the independent reserve engineers. the initial pilot 

project for water injection yielded positive results. 

the second pilot test results are currently being 

evaluated to determine the optimal injection rate. 

the second component of the pressure maintenance 

program at Hiswah involves the reinjection of 

produced gas to reduce flaring and increase oil 

recoveries. the gas injection project was delayed 

due to the inability of manufacturers of key facilities 

to meet Calvalley deadlines. the shipment of these 

facilities occurred in Q1 2010. An existing well has 

been selected to be converted to gas injection and 

a gas line was constructed from the CpF to the  

gas injector. the remaining injection equipment  

is expected to be on-site in the second quarter  

of 2010.

YeMen:Block 9

Al Roidhat wadi as seen from plateau.
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Qarn Qaymah

the testing programs which were conducted during 

2009 established the presence of condensate-

rich gas and light oil in the Kohlan sands and the 

Fractured Granitic Basement (FGB). the initial 

test of the FGB confirmed that the Qarn Qaymah 

structure lies within a high quality oil system. 

the zone naturally flowed a significant volume of 

light oil with fluctuating rates up to maximum of 

2,350 bopd. However, the test flow rates were 

not sustainable due to the lack of appropriate 

downhole equipment. the seismically defined 

structure covers an area exceeding 37 square 

kilometers. the estimated hydrocarbon column  

at Qarn Qaymah 2 (QQ-2) exceeds 380 meters.

the second stage of QQ-2 completion and testing 

involved the isolation of the FGB and testing the 

Kohlan sands. the well flowed liquid-rich gas over 

an extended period with rates up to 3.5 mmcf/d 

with a condensate yield of approximately 70 

bbls per mmcf of gas. Kohlan sands in the Qarn 

Qaymah fairway display regional blanket sand 

characteristics with the fairway extending over  

34 km2 of Block 9. In addition, recent drilling 

success by other operators in the area has a 

positive implication for both Kohlan and FGB 

potentiality. 

ras nowmah

the technical oil discovery during 2009 at  

ras nowmah has advanced the location from  

the exploration phase to the appraisal phase. 

Based on an independent log interpretation, the 

well encountered a total of 45 meters of gross 

oil pay in high quality reservoir rock including 35 

meters in the Qishn and 10 meters in the Saar 

formation. Appraisal of this technical discovery will 

continue in 2010 with up to two appraisal wells.

Historic Iman Villa
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Calvalley 50% WI
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hIswah

Qarn Qaymah

al roIdhat

ras nowmah

the Hiswah field 
contains light 
oil Saar-naifa 
carbonate reservoir 
with a gross 
thickeness of up to 
70 metres.

A technical discovery with oil in the Qishn 
Clastics and Saar-naifa Formations.

the QQ structure is an 
accumulation of gas, 
condensate and light 
oil in the fractured 
basement and Kohlan 
sandstones.  the 
structure lies on 
a major regional 
hydrocarbon fairway.

the Al roidhat field contains 
heavy oil in three separate high 
quality Qishn Clastic reservoirs.
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YeMen:Oil Transportation

A critical component of Calvalley’s future success 

is the ability to market all qualities of crude without 

delivery restrictions which limit production to 

reservoirs containing light, sweet crude. During 

2009, Calvalley management focused on negotiating 

transportation agreements which would allow the 

Company to commence production from all existing 

and future discoveries on Block 9. 

these efforts were rewarded in February 2010 

with the execution of agreements which will enable 

Calvalley to activate shut-in wells in Al roidhat and 

transport blended crude of 26° ApI or higher from 

Block 9 through the masila System. Immediate 

production growth is expected to be realized in 

the third quarter upon the completion of the truck 

offloading facility. Calvalley expects to receive the 

masila Blend price for its crude.

crude oIl transportatIon 
agreements

Block 18
calvalley
Block 9

Block 14
Block 4

Block 10

gas pipeline
oil pipelines
calvalley Key Block

YEMEN
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eTHIOpIa:exploration

ethiopia represents an opportunity for Calvalley to 

diversify its operations outside Yemen. Calvalley 

has completed the early stage activities for the 

establishment of its presence in ethiopia and 

preliminary geological work which will be utilized 

to direct future exploration efforts. As each phase 

of geological work is completed, the next phase 

becomes more targeted and more technical. 

Additional geological work planned for 2010 and 

2011 includes an aeromagnetic survey and a 

seismic program to identify a location for the first 

exploration well to be drilled in 2011 or 2012.

metema

gImBI

calvalley 100% wI
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Operations Statistical Review

DRILLING ACTIVITY

Drilling activity in 2009 did not commence until the second half of the year and, as a result, Calvalley drilled only 

three wells including two development and one exploration well. Despite the scaled-back drilling program, Calvalley 

grew its proved plus probable reserve base by 8% year-over-year (11% including reserves produced in 2009) to  

26.5 million bbls at year-end 2009. 

PRoDuCTIoN
  Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

  2009 2009 2009 2009 2008 2008 2008 2008

oil and nGl  
  (Gross bbls/day)  4,404 4,184 4,164 4,532 3,989 4,743 4,759 4,602

oil and nGl 
  (Working interest bbls/day) 2,202 2,092 2,082 2,266 1,995 2,372 2,380 2,301

production became constrained during the second quarter of 2009, largely due to a restriction at the Safer facility 

through which the Company sells its oil. the restriction resulted from the facility seeking to achieve a target 

sulphur content in the oil blend exiting the facility. total sulphur content at the facility had been increasing due to 

decreased production from other producers’ fields feeding the facility. the Company shut-in certain wells to meet 

the requirements of this externally imposed restriction. During the fourth quarter, Calvalley was able to increase 

production as some of the imposed restrictions were lifted.  the Company also had production shut-in at Al roidhat 

and Hiswah pending the resolution of the transportation agreements.

REsERVEs AND NPV 
  NPV NPV 
 Reserves (10% after tax) (8% after tax)

 Gross (WI) net (after royalty & tax) 
 (mmbbls) (mmbbls) ($ million) ($ million)

proved 

Developed producing 3.1 1.9 66.0 68.5

Developed non-producing 0.9 0.4 13.2 13.5

undeveloped 7.9 3.7 86.4 93.3

total proved 11.9 6.0 165.6 175.3

probable 14.6 6.3 144.7 163.4

total proved + probable 26.5 12.3 310.3 338.7

possible 12.9 4.9 118.8 139.3

total proved + probable + possible 39.4 17.2 429.1 478.0

* Based on mcDaniel forecast prices (Jan 2010 Forecast)
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ManageMent’s Discussion anD analysis

references to “Calvalley” or the “Company” refer to Calvalley petroleum Inc. and its share of consolidated subsidiaries 

and joint ventures unless the context indicates otherwise. All currency references are to united States dollars unless 

otherwise specifically indicated. references to “C$” are to Canadian dollars. 

the purpose of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is to provide readers the ability to view Calvalley 

in much the same way as Company management. the following combination of historical and prospective information 

and financial and business analyses, together with the consolidated financial statements, are intended to impart useful 

knowledge to investors and other readers. this MD&A should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated 

financial statements and related notes of Calvalley for the year ended December 31, 2009. Additional information 

relating to the Company, including the Company’s Annual Information Form, is available on SeDAr at www.sedar.com 

or on the Company’s website at www.calvalleypetroleum.com.

references in text or tables throughout this document to “2009”, “2008” and “2007” refer to the years ended December 

31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. references in text or tables labelled “Q4”, “Q3”, “Q2” and “Q1” refer to the 

periods ended December 31, September 30, June 30 and March 31, respectively, of the year indicated.

this MD&A contains information current to March 30, 2010.

ForwarD-looking stateMents
this MD&A contains certain forward-looking statements. Some of the statements contained herein including, without 

limitation, financial and business prospects and financial outlooks of the Company, may be forward-looking statements 

which reflect management’s expectations regarding future plans and intentions, growth, results of operations, 

performance and business prospects and opportunities. Words such as “may”, “will”, “should”, “could”, “anticipate”, 

“believe”, “expect”, “intend”, “plan”, “potential”, “continue”, and similar expressions have been used to identify these 

forward-looking statements. these statements reflect management’s current beliefs and are based on information 

currently available to management. Forward-looking statements involve significant risk and uncertainties. A number 

of factors could cause actual results to differ materially from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements 

including, but not limited to, changes in general economic, political and market conditions and other risk factors. 

Although the forward-looking statements contained herein are based upon what management believes to be reasonable 

assumptions, management cannot assure that actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements. 

Investors should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. these forward-looking statements are made 

as of the date hereof.

Forward-looking statements and other information contained herein concerning the oil and natural gas industry and 

Calvalley’s general expectations concerning this industry are based on estimates prepared by management using data 

from publicly available industry sources as well as from reserve reports, market research and industry analysis and on 

assumptions based on data and knowledge of this industry which Calvalley believes to be reasonable. However, this 

data is inherently imprecise, although generally indicative of relative market positions, market shares and performance 

characteristics. While Calvalley is not aware of any misstatements regarding any industry data presented herein, the 

industry involves risks and uncertainties and is subject to change based on various factors. See “risk Factors.”
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Calvalley does not undertake any obligation to update publicly or revise any forward-looking statements contained 

in this or in any other document filed with Canadian securities regulatory authorities, whether as a result of new 

information, future events or otherwise, except as required by applicable securities laws.

non-gaaP Measures
Funds flow from operations is a measure not recognized under Canadian generally accepted accounting principles 

(GAAp) that represents funds generated from operating activities before changes in non-cash working capital. Funds 

flow from operations should not be considered an alternative to, or more meaningful than, cash flow from operating 

activities. Management believes that funds flow from operations is a useful supplemental measure to analyze the 

Company’s ability to generate cash flow to fund capital investment and working capital requirements. Funds flow from 

operations may not be comparable to similar measures used by other companies.

earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (eBItDA) and operating income are non-GAAp measures. 

the Company calculates eBItDA as revenue net of royalties, operating expenses and general and administrative 

expenses. the Company calculates operating income by deducting depletion, depreciation and amortization expense 

from eBItDA. Management believes that eBItDA and operating income are useful supplemental measures to analyze 

operating performance and to provide an indication of the results generated by the Company’s principal business 

activities prior to the consideration of other income and expenses. eBItDA and operating income may not be comparable 

to similar measures used by other companies.

netback is a non-GAAp measure that represents oil and natural gas revenue net of royalties, operating expenses and 

current taxes. Management believes that netback is a useful supplemental measure to analyze operating performance 

and provide an indication of the results generated by the Company’s principal business activities prior to the consideration 

of other income and expenses. netback may not be comparable to similar measures used by other companies.

selecteD annual inForMation

($000s except net income per share) 2009 (1) 2008 (1) 2007 (1)

Sales revenue, net of royalties 31,354 46,246 46,520

net income 2,951 19,161 23,300

net income per share:   

 basic $ 0.03 $ 0.19 $ 0.23

 diluted $ 0.03 $ 0.19 $ 0.23

total assets 172,991 172,406 162,730

(1) During these years, the Company did not have any long-term financial liabilities and did not pay any dividends. 

overall PerForMance
net income for the year ended December 31, 2009 was $3.0 million versus $19.2 million for 2008. Working capital at 

December 31, 2009 decreased to $70.7 million from $75.8 million for 2008 and funds flow from operations decreased 

to $13.6 million from $31.1 million in 2008. the Company’s ability to produce positive funds flow from operations 

enabled it to finance its 2009 capital program and to buy back 2.6 million shares at a cost of $3.3 million representing 

an average cost of $1.28/share. the Company continues to generate cash flow from its operations at Block 9 in the 

republic of yemen.
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Business environMent
the Company’s financial results are significantly influenced by fluctuations in commodity prices. the following table 

shows selected market benchmark prices for 2009:

 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Dated Brent average oil price ($/bbl) 74.53 68.08 59.13 44.46

the price of Dated Brent oil averaged $74.53/bbl in Q4 2009, an increase of 36% from the Q4 2008 price of  

$54.91/bbl. the price of Dated Brent oil reached a record high of $144.23/bbl in July 2008. However, financial 

market instability and a worldwide recession resulted in a steep decline in the price of Dated Brent oil from August to 

December 2008. During 2009, the price of oil recovered some of this decline. the closing price of Dated Brent oil at 

December 31, 2009 was $77.67/bbl. As of March 18, 2010, the average daily price was $80.13/bbl.

the global financial crisis has reduced liquidity in financial markets, restricted access to financing and caused 

significant volatility in commodity prices. Despite recent signs of a recovery, these factors may continue to impact the 

performance of the global economy. Calvalley, with no debt, strong cash generation from operations, and the availability 

of cash and cash equivalents, remains well-positioned to manage through the crisis. Furthermore, Calvalley’s approach 

is to operate within a balanced budget and the Company does not expect to incur long-term debt in the near future.

canaDian oil anD natural gas ProPerties
the Company disposed of most of its Canadian oil and natural gas properties in 2004 and existing properties are 

comprised of a working interest in one property in Saskatchewan and some overriding royalties. the remaining Canadian 

properties are not material to the Company’s overall financial position and results of operations.

coMParaBility with Prior PerioDs
revenue may fluctuate from year to year due to the timing of shipments of oil from the ras Isa oil terminal. revenue 

is recognized only when oil is loaded onto a tanker. oil in storage at year-end is recorded as inventory at the 

average cost of production and depletion and in situations where the take-or-pay provisions of the crude marketing 

agreement take effect; any receivable related to those provisions is recorded in the accounts as deferred revenue. At  

December 31, 2009, the Company had no take-or-pay revenue and oil inventory was $0.2 million.

In April 2009, the Government of yemen charged Calvalley $1.1 million for facilities usage. All producers of crude oil in 

yemen are subject to the Facility usage Fee (FuF). the charge was applied retroactively from the commencement of 

production at Block 9 and was accrued in the first quarter 2009 financial statements. the portion of the charge related 

to deliveries that occurred prior to January 1, 2009 amounted to $1.0 million. the balance of the charge in the amount 

of $81,000 ($0.40/bbl) related to oil that was delivered to the government facility during Q1 2009. the Company will 

continue to incur the $0.40/bbl FuF in future periods. the FuF is recoverable from the Company’s share of cost oil in 

accordance with the terms of the production Sharing Agreement.
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Block 9 rePuBlic oF yeMen – exPloration anD DeveloPMent PrograM

Joint operating agreement (Joa)

Substantially all of Calvalley’s operations and assets are related to its 50% working interest in the Block 9 production 

Sharing Agreement (pSA) with the Government of yemen. Calvalley is the operator of the Block 9 Joint Venture (JV) 

pursuant to the JoA among Calvalley, Hoodoil ltd. (“Hoodoil”), reliance Industries limited (“reliance”) and a subsidiary 

of the yemen oil and Gas General Corporation (“yemen Co.”), an entity owned by the Government of yemen. yemen 

Co.’s interest under the JoA consists of a 15% overriding royalty on the JV’s allocation of profit oil under the pSA.

Production sharing agreement

oil and natural gas production from Block 9 is allocated between the JV and agencies of the Government of yemen 

pursuant to the terms of the pSA. the Government of yemen receives a 10% royalty in kind from all Block 9 production, 

after which the remaining oil production is shared between the JV and the Government of yemen. the JV is first 

allocated up to 45% of gross production to recover capital and operating costs incurred in order to operate Block 9. 

to the extent that recoverable costs exceed 45% of the fair value of gross production, any excess costs are carried 

forward for recovery against future production. After deducting cost oil, the remaining profit oil is allocated between 

the Government of yemen and the JV as follows:

•   39.23% of total profit oil to the JV (before deducting 35% income tax on JV’s share of profit oil and after deducting 
15% override to yemen Co.); and 

•    60.77% to the Government of Yemen (including Yemen Co.’s override and before including income tax on JV’s 
share of profit oil).

provided that total recoverable costs do not exceed 45% of gross production, the JV may recover operating costs during 

the year in which they are incurred and may deduct 50% of capital costs incurred during the year of expenditure and 

50% during the following year. 

As at December 31, 2009, the Company’s share of capital costs to be carried forward for recovery against future 

production was approximately $51 million. until these costs have been recovered, together with future operating and 

capital costs that become eligible for recovery during that time period, the Company’s net oil production will equal 

31.33% of gross oil production (22.5% from cost oil and 8.83% from profit oil). Following full recovery of past operating 

costs, the Company’s net oil production will range between 17.65% and 31.33% of gross oil production, which will 

vary depending upon prevailing crude oil selling prices and the capital and operating costs incurred by the JV. the 

Company’s share of profit oil is subject to 35% income tax to the Government of yemen. 

outlook
Despite drilling only three wells (two development wells at Hiswah and one exploration well at ras nowmah) in 2009, 

Calvalley’s proved plus probable reserves increased to 26.5 million bbls at December 31, 2009, representing an 

increase of nearly 8% (11% including reserves produced in 2009) over the 24.6 million bbls estimated by McDaniel 

and Associates at December 31, 2008. this represents a reserves replacement ratio of 343% on 2009 production. 

Calvalley’s finding and development costs are $4.68 per barrel on a three-year average basis. 

With the finalization of the agreements to transport blended crude to Block 51, Calvalley’s 2010 capital program is 

designed to complete key infrastructure projects and implement a significant development drilling program which is 

expected to achieve a step-growth in production from existing discoveries including the Al roidhat field. Calvalley is 

positioning itself to increase production to the maximum allowable trucking capacity of 10,000 bopd (5,000 bopd net). 



23
2009 AnnuAl report

Calvalley expects to bring Al roidhat production on-stream during the third quarter of 2010 upon completion of truck 

offloading facilities (toF) at Block 51. 

Major milestones are subject to risks noted under “risk Factors”. Milestones planned for 2010 include the following:

• Complete TOF at Block 51;

• Increase Block 9 gross production by activating shut-in wells;

•  Continue to add new reserves and production through the development of existing discoveries and by drilling 
exploration, appraisal and development wells;

•  High-grade the existing exploration portfolio of 47 prospects and leads;

•  Complete a gravity/magnetic survey of the Metema and Gimbi blocks in Ethiopia; and initiate a 2D seismic 
program; and

•  Utilize Calvalley’s strong balance sheet and international operating experience by continuing to evaluate potential 
acquisitions of additional assets in the Middle east and Africa.

key Financial inDicators
Calvalley uses key financial indicators to help assess its business performance and manage its operations. these 

financial indicators measure business growth (revenue and capital expenditures), cash generation (eBItDA and funds 

flow from operations) and profitability (operating income and net income). these key financial indicators are discussed 

in more detail in the following sections.

Production

Substantially all of Calvalley’s crude oil production in 2009 and 2008 came from the Hiswah oil field, which produces 

high-quality, lighter crude oil that is sold at prices comparable to the Dated Brent crude oil reference price. All of 

the Company’s crude oil production was trucked more than 250 kilometres to the Safer exploration and production 

operations Co. processing facility on Block 18, where the crude oil was processed and shipped via pipeline to the ras 

Isa marine terminal facility for export. During 2009, the Company’s working interest oil production averaged 2,160 

barrels of oil per day (bopd) (2008 – 2,261 bopd).

production during the first quarter of 2009 recovered from the levels of the fourth quarter of 2008 as shut-in production 

came on-stream as pumps became available. Fourth quarter 2008 production also suffered due to flooding during 

october which essentially shut in the Hiswah field for four days. production decreased during the second quarter of 2009 

because the facility through which the Company sells its oil restricted the volumes of oil it would accept from Block 9. 

the restriction resulted from the facility seeking to achieve a target sulphur content in the oil blend exiting the facility. 

Sulphur content had been increasing due to decreased production from other fields feeding the facility. the Company 

shut-in certain higher-sulphur producing wells to meet the requirements of this externally imposed restriction. 

Subsequent to year-end, the Company finalized certain transportation agreements which will utilize alternate facilities 

at Block 51 and Block 14. once shipments to Block 51 commence, the Company expects these delivery restrictions 

to end. notwithstanding the above, the Company’s working interest oil production has improved and in February 2010 

averaged 2,268 bopd.
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the following table sets forth the Company’s production and sales information for the periods indicated:

Production and sales information

 2009 2008

  year     year 
  total Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 total Q4

Block 9 oil production (bopd)  4,320 4,404 4,184 4,164 4,532 4,522 3,989

Company working interest share (bopd)  2,160 2,202 2,092 2,082 2,266 2,261 1,994

the following table sets forth the key financial indicators for 2009 and 2008.

selected operating information

 2009 2008

  year     year 
($000s)  total (1) Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 (1) total Q4

oil sales  50,839 14,136 12,591 17,252 6,860 74,686 4,060

royalties  (19,485) (5,394) (4,825) (6,566) (2,700) (28,440) (1,609)

operating expenses  (10,313) (2,321) (2,141) (3,738) (2,133) (7,741) (837)

Current taxes  (3,143) (880) (779) (1,066) (418) (4,622) (257)

netback (2)  17,898 5,541 4,846 5,882 1,629 33,883 1,357

General and administrative expenses  (4,413) (1,095) (657) (1,496) (1,165) (4,376) (1,094)

eBItDA (2)  15,992 5,433 5,055 5,548 (44) 34,682 691

operating income (2)  6,142 3,000 3,032 1,904 (1,764) 25,318 (13)

net income   2,951 2,109 2,122 765 (2,045) 19,161 25

Capital expenditures  11,803 4,813 1,781 2,812 2,399 27,504 4,687

Funds flow from operations (2)  13,600 4,652 4,453 4,644 (149) 31,131 414

Cash flow (deficiency) from operating activities  13,971 9,271 3,587 3,325 (962) 37,220 (1,661)

(1)  For the purpose of calculating netback, operating expenses for the first quarter and year total of 2009 were adjusted to exclude the portion of the FuF 
which relates to deliveries of crude oil prior to January 1, 2009 in the amount of $1,025. See discussion on operating expenses for further details.

(2) See “non-GAAp Measures”.
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netbacks are calculated on barrels sold as sales revenue less government royalties, taxes and operating expenses and 

are recognized when the underlying oil is sold. Government royalties and taxes taken in kind are attributed value at the 

price received by Calvalley for its production as follows:

 2009 2008

  year     year 
($/bbl)  total (1) Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 (1) total Q4

oil sales  57.08 73.83 67.74 51.30 38.75 108.23 70.50

royalties  (21.92) (28.28) (26.00) (19.53) (15.28) (41.67) (27.58)

operating expenses  (11.58) (12.12) (11.52) (11.12) (11.93) (11.22) (14.53)

Current taxes  (3.53) (4.56) (4.19) (3.17) (2.39) (6.69) (4.36)

netback (2)  20.05 28.87 26.03 17.48 9.14 48.65 24.03

(1)  For the purpose of calculating netback, operating expenses for the first quarter and year total of 2009 were adjusted to exclude the portion of the FuF 
which relates to deliveries of crude oil prior to January 1, 2009 in the amount of $5.79/bbl. See “operating expenses”.

(2) See “non-GAAp Measures”.

revenue 

During 2009, Calvalley recorded oil revenue of $50.8 million as compared to $74.7 million for the year ended  

December 31, 2008. the significant decrease in revenue is primarily attributable to a 47.3% decrease in the average 

selling price realized in 2009 ($57.08/bbl) from 2008 ($108.23/bbl). the decrease was partially offset by the fact 

that the Company recognized revenue on the sale of 890,636 barrels during 2009 compared with 690,091 barrels 

during 2008, representing a 29.1% increase in volume. the increase in sales volume is attributable to the timing of lifts 

and is not directly correlated with production, which was 788,461 bbls in 2009 versus 825,265 bbls in 2008.

other revenue 

other revenue, comprised primarily of interest revenue, amounted to $1.2 million for 2009 as compared to $2.1 million 

for the year ended December 31, 2008. Interest revenue resulted from maintaining significant cash reserves and 

guaranteed investment certificates (GICs) throughout the year. Interest income has declined from 2008 due to reduced 

interest rates throughout the year. Interest rates on interest-bearing deposits declined throughout 2008 and remained 

depressed during 2009 as central banks attempted to stimulate the economy by reducing borrowing rates.

operating expenses

operating expenses during 2009 were $11.3 million as compared to $7.7 million in 2008. operating expenses were 

higher in 2009 on an absolute basis as a result of $1.7 million of operating expenses that were included in inventory 

at the beginning of the year. the operating expenses and depletion that were included in inventory were recognized  

as an expense when the oil inventory was sold during 2009. operating costs for the year amounted to $11.58/bbl 

versus $11.22/bbl in 2008. operating costs in the fourth quarter were $12.12/bbl compared to $14.53/bbl for the 

same period in 2008. operating expenses in the fourth quarter of 2009 were elevated due to workovers that were 

taking place.

During the first quarter of 2009, the Government of yemen charged Calvalley $1.1 million for facilities usage. All 

producers of crude oil in yemen are subject to the FuF. the charge was applied retroactively from the commencement 

of production at Block 9. the portion of the charge related to deliveries that occurred prior to January 1, 2009 
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amounted to $1.0 million and has been excluded from operating expenses for the purpose of this MD&A to maintain 

comparability of operating expenses. the balance of the charge in the amount of $81,000 ($0.40/bbl) related to 

oil that was delivered to the government facility during the first quarter of 2009. the FuF is recoverable from the 

Company’s share of cost oil in accordance with the terms of the pSA.

As a result of the global financial crisis and falling oil prices, the oil industry cut back or delayed certain capital-intensive 

projects, which has led to less demand and lower costs for certain goods and services. Calvalley manages operating 

costs through competitive bidding, long-term contracts and, recently, renegotiation of current contract terms. 

operating expenses include $5.06 (2008 – $5.09) per gross barrel for trucking costs, third-party processing costs, and 

tariffs for use of pipeline and marine terminal facilities.

netback

netbacks for 2009 were $20.05/bbl compared to $48.65/bbl for 2008. netbacks for the fourth quarter were  

$28.87/bbl versus $24.03/bbl in 2008. Fluctuations in netbacks during 2009 are primarily attributable to changes in 

the prevailing price of crude oil.

general and administrative expenses (g&a)

G&A, net of $1.2 million that was capitalized into resource development costs, totalled $4.4 million for the year ended  

December 31, 2009 as compared to $4.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. G&A costs directly associated 

with Block 9 become recoverable costs and will be recovered from revenue associated with cost oil under the terms of 

the pSA. G&A for the fourth quarter of 2009 totalled $1.1 million versus $1.1 million for comparative period in 2008. 

eBitDa

During 2009, the Company generated eBItDA of $16.0 million compared with $34.6 million during 2008. For the 

fourth quarter, eBItDA was $5.4 million versus $0.7 million for the fourth quarter of 2008. the fluctuation in eBItDA 

is primarily attributable to changes in the prevailing price of crude oil. the FuF referred to above in the discussion on 

operating expenses was a major contributor to the negative eBItDA recognized in the first quarter of 2009. eBItDA is 

also impacted by the timing of lifts by the purchaser of the Company’s crude oil.

Depletion, Depreciation and amortization (DD&a) expenses

 2009 2008

  year     year 
  total Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 total Q4

DD&A  ($000s)  9,850 2,433 2,023 3,644 1,750 9,364 704

DD&A ($/bbl)  11.06 12.71 10.88 10.84 9.88 13.57 12.22

Calvalley recorded DD&A expenses of $9.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2009 as compared to  

$9.4 million for the previous year. Fourth-quarter DD&A expenses were $2.4 million and $0.7 million for 2009 and 

2008, respectively. the decrease in the 2009 versus 2008 annual DD&A rate per barrel is primarily related to reserve 

additions as reflected in the Company’s December 31, 2008 reserve report. DD&A expenses were higher in 2009 on an 

absolute basis as a result of $1.3 million of depletion that was included in inventory at the beginning of the year. the 

operating expenses and depletion that were included in inventory were recognized as an expense when the oil inventory 

was sold during 2009. 
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operating income

During 2009, the Company generated operating income of $6.1 million compared with $25.3 million during 2008. 

operating income was impacted by the same factors as those affecting netbacks and eBItDA.

Foreign exchange gain

Calvalley recognized a small exchange gain of $82,000 during 2009 compared to a loss of $0.3 million during 2008. 

Calvalley maintains its cash position primarily in united States dollars to reduce exposure to currency fluctuations.

income taxes

Current income tax expense in 2009 of $3.1 million (2008 – $4.6 million) represents income taxes incurred and paid 

under the laws of yemen pursuant to the pSA. the income tax is calculated as 35% of the Company’s profit oil revenue 

in yemen, and is paid by the Government of yemen out of its portion of profit oil. 

consoliDateD cash Flow

operating activities

 2009 2008

  year     year 
 ($000s)  total Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 total Q4

Funds flow from operations  13,600 4,652 4,453 4,644 (149) 31,131 414

Change in non-cash working capital  371 3,369 (866) (1,319) (813) 6,088 (2,075)

Cash provided by (used in) operations  13,971 8,021 3,587 3,325 (962) 37,219 (1,661)

As at December 31, 2009, the Company held cash and cash equivalents of $20.0 million compared with $21.0 million 

at the end of 2008. Additionally, the Company held GICs with an initial term greater than 90 days in the amount of 

$50.4 million (2008 – $42.7 million). the Company invests its cash reserves in GICs issued by an Alberta credit union 

in which deposits are guaranteed by the province of Alberta. 

Funds flow from operations of $13.6 million during 2009 was sufficient to fund all of the additions to property, plant 

and equipment in the amount of $11.8 million. During 2008, funds flow from operations of $31.1 million was sufficient 

to fund all additions to property, plant and equipment in the amount of $27.5 million.

investing activities
 2009 2008

  year     year 
 ($000s)  total Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 total Q4

Additions to property, plant and equipment  (11,803) (4,811) (1,781) (2,812) (2,399) (27,504) (4,687)

Change in non-cash working capital  6,960 5,608 4,080 3,675 (6,403) 1,629 2,721

net investment in GICs  (7,637) (6,359) (151) 3,314 (4,441) (37,719) 279

Cash provided by (used in) investing activities  (12,480) (5,562) 2,148 4,177 (13,243) (63,594) (1,687)

During 2009, the Company made capital expenditures of $11.8 million compared with $27.5 million during 2008. this 

reduced level of capital spending resulted from the completion of the CpF during 2008 and the suspension of the drilling 

program during the first half of 2009. the Company invested in the construction of additional facilities for firefighting, 
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water and gas injection, and the blending of crude oil. expenditures were also incurred to prepare and complete 

the Al roidhat wells for production, to drill a new development well in the Hiswah area, to perform a workover at  

Qarn Qaymah 2, and to prepare to drill exploration wells in the ras nowmah and Salmin areas. payments received 

from the Company’s partners exceeded the Company’s funding of expenditures on behalf of its partners in the amount 

of $6.1 million during the year. of these payments, $4.3 million related to capital expenditures. the Company also 

invested in GICs during 2009.

Financing activities

 2009 2008

  year     year 
 ($000s)  total Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 total Q4

Issuance of common shares  776 19 65 692 – 514 –

Common share repurchase  (3,342) (521) (265) (1,462) (1,094) (4,822) (371)

  (2,566) (502) (200) (770) (1,094) (4,308) (371)

During 2009, the Company repurchased 2,610,918 Class A Common Voting Shares on the open market pursuant to 

its normal course issuer bid at a cost of $3.3 million representing an average cost of $1.28/share. proceeds from 

the issuance of Class A Common Voting Shares during 2009 were related solely to the exercise of stock options and 

totalled $0.8 million.

consoliDateD Financial Position
 2009 2008

Assets ($000s)  
As at period-end Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4

Cash and cash equivalents  20,043 17,997 12,420 5,697 20,989

GICs 50,383 44,024 43,873 47,187 42,746

Accounts receivable  2,821 2,707 2,570 2,302 3,296

Due from joint venture partners 9,112 12,143 20,058 22,719 18,419

oil inventory 225 266 379 3,621 2,995

prepaid expenses 341 373 259 280 281

property and equipment 90,066 87,668 84,634 83,887 83,863

total assets 172,991 165,178 164,193 165,683 172,406

As at December 31, 2009, the Company’s total assets were $173.0 million, an increase of $0.6 million from  

December 31, 2008. Cash and cash equivalents amounted to $20.0 million compared with $21.0 million at the 

beginning of the year. 

Accounts receivable decreased by $0.5 million to $2.8 million as at December 31, 2009. the balance at December 

31, 2009 primarily relates to revenue earned from oil sold during December 2009. the amount due from JV partners 

decreased from $18.4 million at the beginning of the year to $9.1 million as at December 31, 2009. 
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oil inventory decreased from $3.0 million to $0.2 million as the majority of the Company’s 2009 production volume was 

lifted prior to December 31, 2009. the oil inventory relates to oil production in storage at the end of the year, valued 

at the average cost of production. 

property and equipment increased to $90.1 million as at December 31, 2009 from $83.7 million as at the end of 

2008. the increase in property and equipment resulted from capital expenditures of $11.8 million, which was partially 

offset by DD&A expense of $9.8 million less $1.2 million in net adjustments to depletion related to oil in inventory. the 

Company’s property, plant and equipment also increased by $3.2 million due to the Company assuming certain capital 

costs which had previously been billed to JV partners. the Company assumed these costs in September 2009 after 

negotiating a settlement with its JV partners on certain exploration and development costs which had been billed to 

partners in accordance with the Company’s interpretation of the JoA.

liabilities and shareholders’ equity
 2009 2008

($000s)  
As at period-end Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  12,220 6,232 7,500 7,554 9,693

Deferred revenue – – – 1,653 3,255

Share capital 116,387 116,622 116,671 116,888 118,243

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities increased to $12.2 million as at December 31, 2009, from $9.7 million as 

at December 31, 2008. the primary reason for this increase is the increased capital spending related to heightened 

exploration and development activity during the last two months of 2009.

Share capital decreased to $116.4 million as at December 31, 2009 from $118.2 million as at the end of 2008 as a 

result of the repurchase of common shares through the Company’s normal course issuer bid. the decrease was partially 

offset by the issuance of Class “A” Common Voting Shares from the exercise of stock options during the period.

liQuiDity anD caPital resources
Calvalley’s principal source of liquidity has been funds flow from operations. Calvalley manages its liquidity risk by 

regularly monitoring its cash flows from operating activities and holding adequate amounts of cash and cash equivalents. 

the Company does not invest its funds in speculative securities. the 2010 budget is expected to be funded from cash 

flow from operations and existing cash resources. Should the prevailing Dated Brent crude price decline to lower than 

budgeted, Calvalley has sufficient flexibility in its capital budget to adjust capital expenditures to enable the capital 

program to be funded through internally generated cash flow. Fluctuations in commodity prices, product demand, 

foreign exchange rates and interest rates, as well as various other risks relating to factors beyond the control of 

Calvalley may impact capital resources.

Calvalley has no outstanding bank debt or other interest-bearing indebtedness as at December 31, 2009. the Company 

has not arranged any undrawn operating lines of credit with any financial institution as the Company intends to fund its 

near-term capital expenditure programs from available cash on hand, funds flow from operations and, if required, from 

the issuance of additional share capital. 
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As at December 31, 2009, the Company’s total assets were $173.0 million, an increase of $0.6 million from  

December 31, 2008. Cash and cash equivalents amounted to $20.0 million compared with $21.0 million at the beginning 

of the year. Cash equivalents are invested with high-quality financial institutions with terms to maturity of less than 

three months. Additionally, the Company held GICs with an initial term greater than 90 days. total cash and cash 

equivalents plus GICs increased from $63.7 million at December 31, 2008 to $70.4 million at December 31, 2009.

Interest rates on interest-bearing deposits have remained depressed over the past year as central banks attempt to 

stimulate the economy by reducing borrowing rates. Most of Calvalley’s funds are deposited at a credit union where 

deposits are guaranteed by the Government of Alberta.

As at December 31, 2009 the Company’s working capital was $70.7 million as compared to $75.8 million as at  

December 31, 2008. 

At December 31, 2009 the Company had Canadian tax pools of approximately $31.3 million, of which $13.5 million 

were non-capital losses, $6.7 million were Canadian resource tax pools, $9.8 million were undepreciated capital cost 

allowance and $1.3 million were deferred financing costs. the total pools were $28.2 million at December 31, 2008. 

no provision has been made to record these pools as an asset because the Company is not likely to take advantage of 

them due to the insignificance of its Canadian operations and assets. 

the Company has no long-term contractual obligations in Canada other than an operating lease for office space 

of approximately $0.2 million in 2010. Its long-term commitments regarding its yemen property include its 50% 

proportionate share of government allowances and bonuses payable under the terms of the pSA of $0.45 million per 

year, plus its 50% proportionate share of certain other bonus payments of $2 million, $3 million and $4 million when 

and if sustainable production exceeds 25,000, 75,000 and 100,000 bopd day, respectively. 

During 2008, Calvalley entered into its first production Sharing Contract (pSC) with the government of the Federal 

Democratic republic of ethiopia for the exploration, development and production of petroleum resources in the Gimbi 

and Metema blocks under a single contract covering a total area of over 46,470 km2 (11.5 million acres). Both blocks 

are located in the western part of the country, adjacent to the Sudan border. As part of the pSC, the Company has 

entered into certain commitments to spend approximately $8.5 million during the first four years of its work program.

Calvalley had no off-balance-sheet arrangements as at December 31, 2009 or December 31, 2008.
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econoMic sensitivities
the following table shows the estimated after-tax effect that changes to crude oil prices, gross crude oil production, 

operating costs and interest rates would have had on Calvalley’s net income for the year ended December 31, 2009, 

had these changes occurred on January 1, 2009. these calculations are based on business conditions, production 

and sales volumes existing for the current period. the 1,000 bopd increase assumes the increase is to gross field 

production and Calvalley’s entitlement is calculated according to the provisions of the pSA and JoA.

   net Income
  net Income Impact  
  Impact ($ per  
 Change (+) ($ millions) Basic Share)

Average realized price  $ 10.00/bbl  5.0  0.05

Crude oil production  1,000 bopd  1.6  0.02

Increase in operating expenses $ 1.00/bbl  (0.9)  (0.01)

Interest rate   1%  0.5  0.01

the impact of the above changes may be compounded or offset by changes to other business conditions. In addition, 

the table does not reflect any inter-relationships between the above factors. Changes in the foreign exchange rates 

have not been considered in this analysis.

relateD-Party transactions
on June 10, 2009 the Company advanced $113,000 to a member of the Board of Directors. the advance was included 

in accounts receivable, was non-interest-bearing, repayable within 90 days, and secured by shares of the Company. the 

advance was repaid in full during August 2009.

risk Factors
Calvalley is exposed to a number of risks inherent in exploring for, developing and producing oil and natural gas. this 

section describes the risks and other matters that would be most likely to influence an investor’s decision to purchase 

securities of Calvalley.

Calvalley manages a number of risks in its business in order to achieve an acceptable level of risk without hindering 

the ability to maximize returns. Management has adopted procedures to identify and manage significant operational 

and financial risks. 

commodity risk

Calvalley’s principal business is the production and sale of crude oil. revenues, earnings and cash flows from the sale 

of crude oil are sensitive to change in market prices, over which the Company has little or no control. the Company has 

the ability to address its price-related exposures through the limited use of options, future and forward contracts, but 

generally does not enter into such arrangements. 
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currency Fluctuations

Calvalley undertakes transactions in currencies other than the united States dollar. the Company’s primary foreign 

exchange risk is to changes in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the united States dollar. Fluctuations in 

exchange rates between the united States dollar and other currencies will give rise to foreign currency exposure, either 

favourable or unfavourable, which may have material effects on the Company’s operations and financial condition. the 

Company has the ability to address its currency-related exposures through the use of foreign exchange contracts. It 

generally does not enter into such hedging arrangements but maintains a portion of its currency in Canadian dollars to 

meet its Canadian dollar requirements.

interest rates

the Company has no interest-bearing debt. the Company invests surplus cash balances in short-term investments with 

recognized Canadian financial institutions. Fluctuations in interest rates, either favourable or unfavourable, may have 

material effects on the Company’s interest income on short-term cash investments. 

credit risk and concentration of sales risk

In January 2007, the Company entered into a long-term crude oil marketing agreement under which the Company sells 

all of its crude oil production to a single purchaser for a period of 18 months. the purchaser is a subsidiary of reliance 

Industries limited, India’s largest business enterprise, which is a party to the JoA for yemen Block 9. the purchaser’s 

obligations under the crude oil marketing agreement are guaranteed by reliance, which has been assigned credit 

ratings of Baa2 Stable outlook by Moody’s and BBB Stable outlook by S&p (above Sovereign rating). the contract was 

extended in April 2009 for an additional period which expires in June, 2010 and can be extended for additional 12-month 

periods if agreed by the Company and the purchaser.

Credit risk also relates to the risk that joint venture partners may not fulfill their contractual obligations for financial 

contributions towards exploration, development, appraisal and production operations.

During the initial agreement negotiations and ratification, these risks are considered and incorporated into the terms of 

the applicable contracts. Furthermore, cash calls can be made in advance of incurring costs to help ensure costs are 

recovered. However, it is possible that the interest of Calvalley and its JV partners are not aligned, resulting in project 

delays, additional costs or disagreements, which could adversely affect business results.

insurable risk

Calvalley employs risk management practices to reduce and mitigate operational risks and other hazard risks and 

exposures, although it is impossible to completely protect its operations from all such risks. the Company places types 

and an amount of insurance that it considers consistent with industry practice to the extent coverage is available 

and cost effective. Such coverage includes third-party liability insurance and property and business interruption 

insurance.

the Company may become liable for damages arising from unforeseen events which it cannot insure against or chooses 

to self-insure. Costs incurred to repair such uninsured damage or to pay associated liabilities may have a material 

effect on the financial condition of the Company.
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legal contingencies

the Company has been named in a claim filed in the Commercial Court of yemen by a Saudi Arabian company. the 

claimant alleges that, pursuant to an agency agreement entered into in 1996, it is entitled to a percentage of the net 

profit attributable to the Company. over the past several months, this issue has been referred between the Commercial 

Court of yemen, the yemeni Court of Appeal and the Supreme Court of yemen on a number of procedural issues and has 

now been sent back to the Supreme Court of yemen for reassessment. Interim judgments have been issued and both 

parties appealed an initial ruling which limited the plaintiff’s entitlement to an interest on the net profit from profit oil 

production prior to February, 2008. Calvalley has cross-appealed on a number of matters of substance and procedure. 

the Company’s legal advisors in Sana’a and Calgary are pursuing the appeal jointly. the outcome of the action in the 

Supreme Court of yemen is undeterminable at this time. no amounts have been accrued in the financial statements for 

the year ended December 31, 2009 as the ultimate resolution is uncertain. the Company will record amounts due, if 

any, once the outcome of the contingency is likely and estimable. Both parties have appealed the ruling and the final 

decision of the Supreme Court of yemen could vary significantly from the ruling of the lower court.

From 2004 through 2007, the Company billed its Block 9 JV partners for fees in accordance with the terms of the pSA 

which governs the JV operating activities on Block 9. the JV partners contend that certain of these fees are not billable 

under the terms of the JoA between the Company and the JV partners. pending resolution of this matter, the Company 

has not charged the JV partners for the fees in question during 2008 and 2009. the Company and its JV partners have 

agreed in principle to enter into a binding expert determination to interpret the terms of the JoA and rule on whether 

the fees in question are billable. While management is not able to determine the likelihood of a positive or negative 

outcome, the maximum liability to the Company related to fees charged from 2004 to 2007 is $1 million. Conversely, 

should the fees be deemed billable, the Company would recover fees which have not previously been recorded in the 

accounts in the amount of $623,000.

concentration of Producing assets

Substantially all of Calvalley’s production is generated from highly productive individual wells in yemen. the production 

and sale of crude oil in yemen involves the use of central production facilities, oil pipelines, and export terminals, either 

operated by the Company or by third parties. As significant production is generated from each of these assets, any 

single event causing an interruption to any one of these operations could result in the loss of production and reserves 

as a result.

exploration, Development and Production risks

Acquiring, developing and exploring for oil and natural gas involves many risks which include but are not limited to 

encountering unexpected formations or pressures, premature declines of reservoirs, blow-outs, well bore collapse, 

equipment failures and other accidents, craterings and sour gas releases, uncontrollable flows of oil, natural gas or 

well fluids, and environmental risks. 

In many oil and natural gas producing countries, oil and natural gas properties, together with related production and 

transportation infrastructure, can be situated in remote areas. In addition to the operational risks described above, 

oil and natural gas properties in some of these countries may be vulnerable to premeditated acts of violence which 

have the potential to cause significant damage to oil and natural gas operations and injury or death to personnel. the 

Company relies on the Government of yemen’s support in providing appropriate security for crude oil operations in 

Block 9.
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Calvalley may not be fully insured against all of these risks. losses resulting from the occurrence of these risks could 

have a material impact on the Company’s financial results.

reserve additions

Calvalley’s future crude oil reserves and production, and therefore its operating cash flows and results of operations, 

are highly dependent upon the Company’s success in exploiting its current reserve base and acquiring or discovering 

additional reserves. Without reserve additions through exploration, development or acquisitions, the Company’s 

reserves and production will decline over time as reserves are produced. the business of exploring for, developing or 

acquiring reserves is capital-intensive. to the extent cash flows from operations are insufficient and external sources 

of capital become limited or unavailable, Calvalley’s ability to make the necessary capital investments to maintain and 

expand its oil production and reserves will be impaired.

environment, health, safety and regulatory approvals

environmental, health and safety laws and regulations are continually evolving. Compliance with such laws and 

regulations can require significant expenditures which may materially affect the Company’s financial condition or 

results of operations. 

expansion of existing operations and the development of new operating sites generally require approval of regulatory 

authorities. If such approvals are delayed or not achieved, the Company’s ability to meet project schedule or cost 

objectives or to operate at expanded or existing levels could be materially impacted.

Workplace health and safety risks for workers arise from the inherent nature of the Company’s operations and the 

jurisdictions within which it operates.

competition

there is strong competition relating to all aspects of the oil and natural gas industry. Calvalley actively competes for 

skilled industry personnel who are in high demand, particularly at its Canadian headquarters, with a substantial number 

of other oil and natural gas companies, many of which have significantly greater financial and other resources. 

changes in legislation

there can be no assurance that laws and regulations relating to the oil and natural gas industry will not be changed in 

a manner which would adversely affect the operations of the Company. under the pSA, the Company is not obligated 

to comply with regulatory changes that are inconsistent with the provisions of the pSA. Further, the pSA stipulates 

that the interests, rights and obligations of the Government of yemen and the Company shall be solely governed by 

the provisions of the pSA unless altered or amended by mutual agreement. In particular, the pSA requires that the 

Government of yemen pay profit taxes on the Company’s behalf, out of the Government of yemen’s share of profit oil. 
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selecteD Quarterly inForMation

   net earnings earnings  
   Income per per  long-
   for the Basic Diluted total term
($000s except per share) revenue expenses period Share Share Assets Debt

2009

Fourth Quarter 8,984 6,067 2,109 $ 0.02 $ 0.02 172,991 –

third Quarter 8,041 5,152 2,122 $ 0.02 $ 0.02 165,178 –

Second Quarter 10,973 9,100 765 $ 0.01 $ 0.01 164,193 –

First Quarter 4,543 6,210 (2,045) ($ 0.02) ($ 0.02) 165,683 –

2008

Fourth Quarter 2,901 2,617 25 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 172,406 –

third Quarter  16,066  5,370  9,105 $ 0.10 $ 0.10 172,526 –

Second Quarter  16,242  10,134  4,432 $ 0.03 $ 0.03 169,097 –

First Quarter 13,150 6,149 5,599 $ 0.06 $ 0.06 158,833 –

the Company continues to develop the field and build related infrastructure. the Company has invested in significant 

studies of the existing pools and exploration areas of Block 9 and expects to increase production during 2010 as a 

result of this groundwork. Volatility of revenue can be caused by the timing of loading crude oil onto tankers (See 

“Comparability with prior periods”) and the recent volatility which has been experienced in the commodity markets. 

MeasureMent uncertainty
the preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 

the consolidated financial statements and revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results, including 

petroleum and natural gas sales, royalties and operating expenses, can differ from these estimates.

In particular, amounts recorded for depreciation and depletion and amounts used for ceiling test calculations are based 

on estimates of petroleum and natural gas reserves and future costs required to develop those reserves. the Company’s 

reserve estimates are evaluated annually by an independent engineering firm. By their nature, these estimates of 

reserves and the related future cash flows are subject to measurement uncertainty and the impact on the consolidated 

financial statements of future periods could be material.

Computations of provisions and estimates for income taxes involve management making judgments with respect to 

interpretation of tax regulations and related legislation which is continually changing. In addition, there are tax matters 

that have not yet been confirmed by taxation authorities. While management believes the provision for income taxes 

is adequate, these amounts are subject to measurement uncertainty. Adjustments required, if any, to these provisions 

will be reflected in the period when it is determined that adjustments are warranted.

the Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options which 

were fully tradable with no vesting restrictions. this option valuation model requires the input of highly subjective 

assumptions including the expected stock price volatility. Because the Company’s stock options and warrants have 

characteristics significantly different from those of traded options and because changes in the subjective input 

assumptions can materially affect the calculated fair value, such value is subject to measurement uncertainty. 
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Amounts recorded as due from joint venture partners are based on the Company’s interpretation of underlying 

agreements and may be subject to joint approval. the Company has recorded balances due based on costs incurred and 

its interpretation of allowable expenditures. Any adjustments required as a result of joint venture audits are recorded 

in the period of settlement with joint venture partners.

aDDitional inForMation
As at December 31, 2009, the Company had 98,217,984 common shares outstanding. Additionally, there were 

4,094,700 options outstanding which were issued pursuant to the Company’s stock option plan.

Disclosure controls anD ProceDures
As of December 31, 2009, an evaluation was carried out under the supervision of, and with the participation of 

Calvalley’s management including the Chief executive officer (Ceo) and the Chief Financial officer (CFo), of the design 

and effectiveness of Calvalley’s Disclosure Controls and procedures (DC&p). Based on that evaluation, the Ceo and 

the CFo concluded that the design and operation of Calvalley’s DC&p were effective as at December 31, 2009, and 

would provide reasonable assurance that material information relating to Calvalley and its consolidated subsidiaries 

would be made known to them by others within those entities and that this material information would be recorded, 

processed, summarized and reported within the periods specified in securities legislation. 

the Ceo and CFo have also evaluated, or caused to be evaluated under their supervision, the operational effectiveness 

of the Company’s DC&p at the financial year-end and have concluded that the DC&p are effective.

internal controls over Financial rePorting
Internal Controls over Financial reporting (ICFr) are designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 

of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian GAAp. ICFr can only 

provide reasonable assurance and may not prevent or detect misstatements. projections of an evaluation of effectiveness 

to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate due to changes in conditions, or that the 

degree of compliance with the policies and procedures may deteriorate.

As of December 31, 2009, an evaluation was carried out under the supervision of and with the participation of Calvalley’s 

management including the Ceo and the CFo, of the design of Calvalley’s ICFr. Based on that evaluation, the Ceo and 

the CFo concluded that the design of ICFr was effective as at December 31, 2009. Management has concluded that 

the ICFr provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 

statements for external purposes in accordance with Canadian GAAp. 

there have been no changes in Calvalley’s ICFr during the year ended December 31, 2009 that have materially 

affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, Calvalley’s ICFr.

As of December 31, 2009, the CFo and the Ceo have evaluated, or have caused to be evaluated under their supervision, 

the operational effectiveness of the Company’s ICFr at the financial year-end and have concluded that the ICFr  

are effective.



37
2009 AnnuAl report

new accounting PronounceMents

goodwill and intangible assets

on January 1, 2009 the Company adopted the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) Handbook  

Section 3064, “Goodwill and Intangible Assets”, which replaced Section 3062, “Goodwill and other Intangible Assets”, 

and Section 3450, “research and Development Costs”. Section 3064 incorporates guidance addressing when an 

internally developed intangible asset meets the criteria for recognition as an asset. the adoption of this standard did 

not impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

credit risk and Fair value

effective January 1, 2009 the Company adopted emerging Issues Committee (eIC) Abstract 173, “Credit risk and 

the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial liabilities”. this abstract concludes that for all financial assets and 

liabilities measured at fair value an entity’s own credit risk and the credit risk of the counterparty should be taken into 

account when determining the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including derivative instruments. 

the adoption of this abstract did not impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Financial instruments – Disclosures

In June 2009, the CICA issued amendments to CICA Handbook Section 3862, “Financial Instruments — Disclosures”. 

the amendments include enhanced disclosures related to the fair value of financial instruments and the liquidity risk 

associated with financial instruments. the amendments will be effective for annual financial statements for fiscal years 

ending after September 30, 2009. the amendments are consistent with recent amendments to financial instrument 

disclosure standards in IFrS. the Company has included these additional disclosures in its annual consolidated financial 

statements for the year ending December 31, 2009.

Financial instruments – recognition

effective July 1, 2009 the Company adopted amendments to CICA Handbook Section 3855, “Financial Instruments – 

recognition and Measurement”, and Section 3025, “Impaired loans”. the adoption of these sections did not impact 

the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

eFFect oF Future changes in accounting Policies

international Financial reporting standards (iFrs)

In February 2008, the CICA’s Accounting Standards Board confirmed that all Canadian publicly accountable 

enterprises will be required to adopt IFrS for interim and annual reporting purposes for fiscal years beginning on or after  

January 1, 2011. Calvalley is continually assessing the impact of the convergence of Canadian GAAp with IFrS on the 

Company’s results of operations, financial position and disclosures. under the direction and oversight of the Board of 

Directors and Audit Committee, the Company has assembled a project team to manage the transition and to ensure 

successful implementation within the required timeframe. 

the Company recognizes that the changeover to IFrS has complex implications on a combination of accounting, 

financial reporting, information technology and business systems. Consequently, senior management has engaged 

external consultants to conduct a business impact study, to assist in the development a project plan, and to provide 

assistance in considering various accounting policy decisions which will be required throughout the transition period. 

Company personnel involved with the transition project have also received appropriate training and education.
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the overall IFrS transition project consists of five phases: (i) Scope; (ii) plan; (iii) Design and Build; (iv) Implement; 

(v) review. the Scope phase, which consisted of identifying the significant differences between Canadian GAAp and 

IFrS, has been completed. 

the Company has concluded that the following key issues will have the most significant impact on Calvalley’s results 

of operations, financial position and disclosures:

IFrS 1 – First-time adoption of International Financial reporting Standards;

IFrS 6 – exploration and evaluation of Mineral resources;

IFrS 16 – property, plant and equipment;

International Accounting Standard 36 – Impairment of Assets;

the Company has also completed the plan phase. During this phase, the Company gathered information and financial 

data to assess the potential impacts of the differences identified during the Scope phase. Management has determined 

the resources that will be required to complete the transition to IFrS, has assembled an IFrS transition project team, 

and has established internal milestones and timelines. 

the Company is now progressing through the Design and Build phase of the transition project. the IFrS project team 

is currently developing recommendations for IFrS policy decisions which are based on appropriately documented 

consideration of the following factors:

• Impact on financial and key performance indicators;

• Impact on information technology and systems;

• Impact on the internal control and disclosure control frameworks;

• Transition and maintenance costs;

• Impact on communications with key stakeholders; and

• Other general business impacts.

the IFrS project team has conducted a preliminary detailed analysis of IFrS 1, 6, and 16 and has identified the impact 

of the available policy alternatives to the Company’s financial reports. upon management discussion and approval of 

the recommendations from the IFrS project team, the recommendations will be submitted to the Audit Committee for 

approval and to the Company’s external auditors for review. Management expects to internally approve the Company’s 

transition balance sheet and accounting policies governing accounting for oil and gas assets prior to the end of the 

second quarter of 2010.

the Company has not formally approved specific IFrS policies and consequently has not quantified the impact of such 

policies on individual elements of the financial statements. As the Company adopts IFrS policies, management will 

quantify the impact of these policies on the financial statements. Implementation of the necessary changes to business 

process, financial systems, accounting policies, DC&p and ICFr will also be executed as policy choices are finalized.

the Company has begun assessing whether the transition to IFrS will have an impact on business activities. While 

management has not identified any instances where IFrS would have major implications on existing contractual 

arrangements or other business activities, formal conclusions on this matter have not been completed.
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In respect of information technology systems implications, management has communicated with software suppliers 

to confirm that systems in place are sufficient to enable the IFrS transition. Management is also in the process of 

developing a strategy for implementing IFrS-compliant financial reporting processes during 2010 using the existing 

accounting software suite and financial reporting infrastructure.

the Company is currently adhering to the timelines established in its transition project plan. 

norMal course issuer BiD
on April 21, 2009, the Company made the necessary filings, and received the necessary approvals, to make a normal 

course issuer bid through the facilities of the toronto Stock exchange (tSX) commencing April 23, 2009 and ending 

April 22, 2010, or on such earlier date as Calvalley may complete its purchases under the bid. A copy of the notice filed 

with the toronto Stock exchange can be obtained by any shareholder of the Company, without charge, by contacting 

the Company.

A total of 4,948,029 Class A Common Shares (the “Common Shares”) may be acquired under the bid, representing 5% 

of the 98,960,580 Common Shares outstanding as of April 15, 2009. Calvalley will acquire Common Shares under the 

bid at the market price at the time of purchase, and all Common Shares acquired will be cancelled. unless Calvalley 

is utilizing a Block purchase exemption as permitted by the tSX, purchases are subject to a daily purchase restriction 

equal to 25% of the average daily trading volume of the Common Shares over the past six calendar months, or a 

maximum of 28,824 Common Shares per trading day.

In the opinion of Calvalley’s Board of Directors, Calvalley’s Common Shares are, from time to time, undervalued by 

the market, and the cost of acquiring the shares is an expense prudently incurred by Calvalley to increase shareholder 

value. 

A total of 1,657,688 shares have been acquired to March 30, 2010 under the bid.
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the consolidated financial statements of Calvalley petroleum Inc. were prepared by management within acceptable 

limits of materiality and are in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. Management is 

responsible for ensuring that the financial and operating information presented in the Company’s 2009 annual report is 

consistent with that shown in the consolidated financial statements.

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with the accounting principles 

as described in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. timely release of financial information sometimes 

necessitates the use of estimates when transactions affecting the current accounting period cannot be finalized until 

future periods. When necessary, such estimates are based on informed judgments made by management.

Management has designed and maintains an appropriate system of internal controls to provide reasonable assurance 

that all assets are safeguarded and financial records properly maintained to facilitate the preparation of consolidated 

financial statements for reporting purposes.

Deloitte & touche llp, an independent firm of Chartered Accountants appointed by the shareholders, have conducted 

an examination of the corporate and accounting records in order to express their opinion on the consolidated financial 

statements. the Audit Committee, consisting of three independent directors, has met with representatives of Deloitte 

& touche llp and management in order to determine if management has fulfilled its responsibilities in the preparation 

of the consolidated financial statements. the Board of Directors has approved the consolidated financial statements.

edmund Shimoon Bill Cummins

Chairman & Ceo Chief Financial officer

March 22, 2010

ManageMent’s rePort

(signed) “edmund Shimoon” (signed) “Bill Cummins”
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to the Shareholders of Calvalley petroleum Inc.:

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Calvalley petroleum Inc. as at December 31, 2009 and 2008 and 

the consolidated statements of operations, retained earnings and cash flows for the years then ended. these financial 

statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. those standards require 

that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material 

misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made 

by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

the Company as at December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then 

ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Calgary, Alberta

Chartered Accountants 

March 22, 2010

auDitors’ rePort

(signed) “Deloitte & touche llp”
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As at December 31 2009 2008

 $ $

assets 

Current

Cash and cash equivalents (note 4) 20,043 20,989

Guaranteed investment certificates (note 5) 50,383 42,746

Accounts receivable  2,821 3,293

oil inventory (note 6) 225 2,995

Due from joint venture partners (note 7) 9,112 18,419

prepaid expenses 341 281

 82,925 88,723

property, plant and equipment (note 8) 90,066 83,683

 172,991 172,406

liaBilities anD shareholDers’ eQuity

current

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 12,220 9,693

Deferred revenue – 3,255

 12,220 12,948

commitments (note 17) 

contingency (note 18)

shareholders’ equity  

Share capital (note 9) 116,387 118,243

Contributed surplus (note 10) 7,146 6,772

Accumulated other comprehensive income 3,963 3,963

retained earnings 33,275 30,480

 160,771 159,458

 172,991 172,406

See accompanying notes

on behalf of the Board:

edmund Shimoon  Gary robertson

 

consoliDateD Balance sheets
(expressed in thousands of united States Dollars)
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For the years ended December 31 2009 2008

 $ $

revenue

oil sales 50,839 74,686

royalties (19,485) (28,440)

 31,354 46,246

Management fees  389 553

Interest and other 798 1,560

 32,541 48,359

exPenses

operating 11,338 7,741

General and administrative, net of recoveries 4,413 4,376

Stock-based compensation  928 2,789

Depletion, depreciation and amortization 9,850 9,364

 26,529 24,270

Income before other items 6,012 24,089

Foreign exchange gain (loss)  82 (306)

income before income tax 6,094 23,783

Income tax (note 12) 3,143 4,622

net income and comprehensive income 2,951 19,161

earnings per share (note 15)  

 Basic $0.03 $0.19

 Diluted  $0.03 $0.19

See accompanying notes

consoliDateD stateMents oF retaineD earnings
(expressed in thousands of united States Dollars) 

For the years ended December 31 2009 2008

 $ $

retained earnings, beginning of year 30,480 14,350

Common share repurchases (note 9) (156) (3,031)

net income for the year 2,951 19,161

retained earnings, end of year 33,275 30,480

See accompanying notes

consoliDateD stateMents oF oPerations
(expressed in thousands of united States Dollars except per Share Amounts)
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For the years ended December 31 2009 2008

 $ $

oPerating activities  

net income for the year 2,951 19,161

Add (deduct) items not affecting cash:  

 Stock-based compensation 928 2,789

 Depletion, depreciation and amortization 9,850 9,364

 unrealized foreign exchange gain (129) (183)

 13,600 31,131

Change in non-cash working capital (note 13) 371 6,088

 13,971 37,219

investing activities  

Additions to property, plant and equipment (11,803) (27,504)

Investment in guaranteed investment certificates  (148,576) (53,063)

redemption of guaranteed investment certificates  140,939 15,344

Change in non-cash working capital (note 13) 6,960 1,629

 (12,480) (63,594)

Financing activities

Issuance of common shares (note 9) 776 514

Common share repurchase (note 9) (3,342) (4,822)

 (2,566) (4,308)

Foreign exchange gain on cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies  129 231

Decrease in cash (946) (30,452)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year (note 4) 20,989 51,441

cash and cash equivalents, end of year 20,043 20,989

See accompanying notes – non-cash transaction (note 7)

consoliDateD stateMents oF cash Flow
(expressed in thousands of united States Dollars)
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1. DescriPtion oF Business

Calvalley petroleum Inc. (the “Company” or “Calvalley”) was incorporated on July 1, 1996 under the Canada Business 

Corporations Act and is engaged in the exploration, development and production of crude oil and natural gas. the 

Company’s activities are carried out in three geographical segments: Canada, yemen, and ethiopia.

2. suMMary oF signiFicant accounting Policies

these consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 

accounting principles (GAAp). In these consolidated financial statements, all dollar amounts are expressed in united 

States dollars, unless otherwise indicated. All references to uS$ or $ are to united States dollars and references to 

C$ are to Canadian dollars. 

consolidation

the consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. 

Inter-company accounts and balances are eliminated on consolidation.

accumulated other comprehensive income

effective December 31, 2005, management changed the reporting currency of the Company from Canadian dollars 

(C$) to united States dollars ($), as this currency is more appropriate for the Company’s investors and other users 

of the financial statements. the Company followed the recommendations of the emerging Issues Committee (eIC) of 

the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA), set out in eIC-130, “translation Method when the reporting 

Currency Differs from the Measurement Currency or there is a Change in the reporting Currency.” Financial statements 

for all periods were translated from Canadian dollars to uS dollars using the current rate method. using this method, 

all consolidated assets and liabilities were translated using the exchange rate at the balance sheet dates, while 

shareholders’ equity was translated using the historical rates of exchange in effect on the dates of the corresponding 

transactions. the consolidated statements of operations and deficit and consolidated statements of cash flows were 

translated using the prevailing average exchange rates for the periods. the resulting exchange difference due to this 

translation of $3,963 was included in shareholders’ equity as accumulated other comprehensive income. 

Joint interests

Substantially all of the Company’s exploration and development activities are conducted jointly with other parties. 

these financial statements reflect only the Company’s proportionate interest in such activities.

Foreign currency

the activities of the Canadian parent have been translated into united States dollars using the temporal method. under 

this method, monetary assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. non-

monetary assets and liabilities are translated at rates in effect on the dates the assets were acquired or liabilities 

were incurred. revenue and expenses are translated at the rates of exchange prevailing at the date of the transaction. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses are included in net income in the period in which they arise.

Foreign-currency-denominated transactions are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at the date of the transaction.

notes to the consoliDateD Financial stateMents 
(Financial Figures in text and tables expressed in thousands of united States Dollars) for years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Financial Figures in text and tables expressed in thousands of united States Dollars) December 31, 2009 and 2008

Measurement uncertainty

the preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 

the consolidated financial statements and revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results, including 

petroleum and natural gas sales, royalties and operating expenses, can differ from these estimates.

In particular, amounts recorded for depreciation and depletion and amounts used for ceiling test calculations are based 

on estimates of petroleum and natural gas reserves and future costs required to develop those reserves. the Company’s 

reserve estimates are evaluated annually by an independent engineering firm. By their nature, these estimates of 

reserves and the related future cash flows are subject to measurement uncertainty and the impact on the consolidated 

financial statements of future periods could be material.

Computations of provisions and estimates for income taxes involve management making judgments with respect to 

interpretation of tax regulations and related legislation which is continually changing. In addition, there are tax matters 

that have not yet been confirmed by taxation authorities. While management believes the provision for income taxes 

is adequate, these amounts are subject to measurement uncertainty. Adjustments required, if any, to these provisions 

will be reflected in the period when it is determined that adjustments are warranted.

the Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options which 

were fully tradable with no vesting restrictions. this option valuation model requires the input of highly subjective 

assumptions including the expected stock price volatility. Because the Company’s stock options and warrants have 

characteristics significantly different from those of traded options and because changes in the subjective input 

assumptions can materially affect the calculated fair value, such value is subject to measurement uncertainty. 

Amounts recorded as due from joint venture partners are based on the Company’s interpretation of underlying agreements 

and may be subject to joint approval. the Company has recorded balances due from its joint venture partners based on 

costs incurred and its interpretation of allowable expenditures. Any adjustments required as a result of joint venture 

audits are recorded in the period of settlement with joint venture partners.

revenue recognition

revenues associated with the sale of the Company’s crude oil are recognized when the title passes from the Company 

to its customer. 

pursuant to the crude oil sales agreement, the Block 9 joint venture is entitled to invoice the buyer in any month that 

the crude oil available for sale but not purchased by the buyer exceeds 200,000 barrels (commonly referred to as a 

“take or pay” feature). the price used in such a take or pay invoice is the price that would apply had a crude oil transfer 

occurred in that particular month and is based on the average of the Dated Brent benchmark price for the applicable 

month. Due to the revenue recognition accounting policy stated above, take or pay invoice amounts are not recorded as 

sales revenue. rather, such amounts are reported as deferred revenue in the current liabilities section of the balance 

sheet. these amounts are recognized as revenue in the period in which the underlying crude oil is sold. 

In yemen, the government receives crude oil production as payment of the Company‘s profit taxes on the profit oil 

share of production. the Company recognizes this amount as revenue with a corresponding income tax expense when 

the oil is sold.
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Management fees are based on amounts expended and are recognized in the period when the underlying expenditure  

is incurred.

cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include short-term deposits with maturity terms of three months or less at the date of 

investment.

Financial instruments

All financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the balance sheet. the Company has classified each 

financial instrument into one of the following categories: held-for-trading (assets and liabilities), loans and receivables, 

financial assets available-for-sale, financial assets held-to-maturity, and other financial liabilities. Subsequent 

measurement of financial instruments is based on their classification.

Financial assets and liabilities held-for-trading are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in those fair values 

recognized in net earnings. Financial assets available-for-sale are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in 

fair value recognized in other comprehensive income, net of tax.

Financial assets held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, and other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at 

amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Cash and cash equivalents are classified as held-for-trading. Accounts receivable and amounts due from joint venture 

partners are classified as loans and receivables. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are designated as other 

financial liabilities.

the Company does not have any hedges or derivative instruments, including embedded derivatives.

oil inventory

oil inventory represents the volume of crude oil in storage, which is valued at the aggregate of average production 

costs and depletion costs per barrel. Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 

Property, Plant and equipment

the Company follows the full cost method of accounting for oil and natural gas operations whereby all costs relating 

to the acquisition of, exploration for and development of petroleum and natural gas properties are capitalized in 

cost centres on a country-by-country basis. Such costs include lease acquisition costs, geological and geophysical 

expenditures, lease rentals, costs of drilling and equipping productive and non-productive wells and certain overhead 

expenditures related to exploration and development activities. 

overhead expenditures relating to petroleum and natural gas cost centres in the pre-production stage of development 

are capitalized. proceeds from the disposal of properties are applied as a reduction of the cost of the remaining assets  

except where such a disposal would alter the depletion and depreciation rate by more than 20%, in which case a gain or loss  

would be recognized.

the Company tests the impairment of producing cost centres using undiscounted future net revenue from proved 

reserves at expected future product prices and production costs. Impairment is recognized when the carrying amount 

is greater than the undiscounted future net revenues, at which time assets are written down to the fair value of 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Financial Figures in text and tables expressed in thousands of united States Dollars) December 31, 2009 and 2008

proved and probable reserves plus the cost of unproved properties, net of impairment allowances. Fair value is 

determined using expected future product prices and production costs, and amounts are discounted using an adjusted  

interest rate.

the recoverability of new undeveloped cost centres is assessed annually based on results of geological and geophysical 

assessments, drilling activity and planned operations.

Depletion and Depreciation

Capitalized costs of properties, including a provision for future costs to develop proved reserves, are amortized through 

depletion and depreciation charges using the unit of production method based on estimated proved crude oil and 

natural gas reserves in that cost centre. For purposes of these calculations, production of crude oil, natural gas liquids, 

natural gas, and proved reserves before royalties is converted to a common unit of measure on the basis of each 

commodity’s approximate relative energy content. Costs of acquiring and evaluating unproved properties are excluded 

from costs subject to depletion until it is determined whether proved reserves are attributable to the properties or 

impairment occurs. 

other capital assets are depreciated using the declining balance method based on the estimated service lives of the 

assets, which vary from three to five years.

income taxes

the Company follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. under this method, future tax liabilities and 

assets are recognized for the estimated tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Future tax liabilities and assets are measured 

using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates. the effect on future tax liabilities and assets of a change in tax rates 

is recognized in income in the period that the change occurs. Future income tax assets are evaluated and if realization 

is not considered “more likely than not”, a valuation allowance is provided.

the Company’s contractual arrangements in yemen stipulate that income taxes are paid by the respective government 

out of its share of production sharing oil. Such amounts are included in income tax expense at the statutory rate in 

effect at the time of production.

earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated based on net earnings or loss for the year divided by the weighted average 

number of shares outstanding during the year. the Company follows the treasury stock method in calculating diluted 

earnings per share. under this method, the diluted weighted average number of shares is calculated assuming the 

proceeds from the exercise of options and warrants are used to purchase common shares at the average market price 

for the year. 

stock-based compensation

the fair value of options and warrants granted is estimated at the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes valuation 

model. Stock-based compensation is recognized over the vesting period of the options granted. Stock-based compensation 

expense is recorded with a corresponding increase recorded to contributed surplus. upon the exercise of the options 

and warrants, consideration paid by employees, consultants or directors together with the amount previously recognized 

in contributed surplus is recorded as an increase to share capital. the Company does not incorporate an estimated 

forfeiture rate for stock options that will not vest. Forfeitures are accounted for as they occur.
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3. changes in accounting Policies

goodwill and intangible assets

on January 1, 2009 the Company adopted CICA Handbook Section 3064, “Goodwill and Intangible Assets”, which replaced  

Section 3062, “Goodwill and other Intangible Assets”, and Section 3450, “research and Development Costs”. Section 

3064 incorporates guidance addressing when an internally developed intangible asset meets the criteria for recognition 

as an asset. the adoption of this standard did not impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

credit risk and Fair value

effective January 1, 2009 the Company adopted eIC 173, “Credit risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and 

Financial liabilities”. this abstract concludes that for all financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value an 

entity’s own credit risk and the credit risk of the counterparty should be taken into account when determining the fair 

values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including derivative instruments. the adoption of this abstract did not 

impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Financial instruments – Disclosures

In June 2009, the CICA issued amendments to Handbook Section 3862, “Financial Instruments – Disclosures”. the 

amendments include enhanced disclosures related to the fair value of financial instruments and the liquidity risk 

associated with financial instruments. the amendment is effective for annual financial statements for fiscal years 

ending after September 30, 2009. the amendments are consistent with recent amendments to financial instrument 

disclosure standards in International Financial reporting Standards. the Company has included these additional 

disclosures in note 16.

Financial instruments – recognition

effective July 1, 2009 the Company adopted amendments to CICA Handbook Section 3855, “Financial Instruments – 

recognition and Measurement”, and Section 3025, “Impaired loans”. the adoption of this section did not impact the 

Company’s consolidated financial statements.

new accounting standards
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

In February 2008, the Accounting Standards Board confirmed that all Canadian publicly accountable enterprises will be 

required to adopt IFrS for interim and annual reporting purposes for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. 

Calvalley is currently assessing the impact of the convergence of Canadian GAAp with IFrS on the Company’s results 

of operations, financial position and disclosures. A diagnostic of potential areas of impact has been completed to aid 

in the management of this transition, with the aim to ensure successful implementation within the required timeframe. 

the results of this diagnostic indicate that the significant impact to Calvalley’s results of operations, financial position 

and disclosures will be on property, plant and equipment, as it relates to the Company’s policy of full-cost accounting 

for its exploration assets and the continued ability to utilize this policy, how these assets are ultimately depreciated, 

and how impairment is ultimately determined and measured. other areas of potential impact include stock-based 

compensation and joint venture accounting.
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4. cash anD cash eQuivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2009 include various short-term deposits of $16,664 (December 31, 

2008 – $18,772), bearing interest at 0.20% to 0.28% (December 31, 2008 – 1% to 3.25%) and maturing from  

January 8, 2010 to January 17, 2010, and $3,379 (December 31, 2008 – $2,217) of cash.

5. guaranteeD investMent certiFicates 

Guaranteed investment certificates (GICs) with original maturities in excess of 90 days at December 31, 2009 are as 

follows:

 Face Interest  
Maturity Value rate %

January 16, 2010 $ 6,127  1.50

March 20, 2010 $ 27,546  0.60

May 15, 2010 $ 10,999  0.55

november 6, 2010 $ 3,000  0.90

november 12, 2010 $ 2,548  0.90

GICs with an original maturity in excess of 90 days at December 31, 2008 bore interest at 2.00% to 2.25% and matured 

between March 15, 2009 and December 10, 2009.

the GICs are carried at cost plus interest, which approximates fair value and can be redeemed at any time without 

penalty.

6. oil inventory

Inventory sold is expensed through production and depletion expenses in the period when it is sold. During 2009, $2,995  

(2008 – $71) was expensed with respect to oil which was sold.

7. Due FroM Joint venture Partners

Amounts due from joint venture partners are comprised primarily of amounts due for operating costs and capital 

expenditures. the balances are due under normal trade terms. During 2009, the Company assumed and recorded as 

additions to property, plant and equipment certain costs previously billed to its joint venture partners in the amount 

of $3,221.
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8. ProPerty, Plant anD eQuiPMent

   accumulated net
   Depletion and Book
December 31, 2009 cost Depreciation value

  $ $ $

canada   

oil and natural gas properties 130 80 50

other capital assets 294 153 141

  424 233 191

yemen

oil and natural gas properties 125,889 36,653 89,236

ethiopia

oil and natural gas properties 639 – 639

 126,952 36,886 90,006

   Accumulated net
   Depletion and Book
December 31, 2008 Cost Depreciation Value

  $ $ $

Canada 

oil and natural gas properties  128 67 61

other capital assets 269 120 149

  397 187 210

yemen

oil and natural gas properties 111,190 28,059 83,131

ethiopia

oil and natural gas properties 342 – 342

 111,929 28,246 83,683
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ceiling test

the Company performed a ceiling test as at December 31, 2009 to assess the recoverable value of its property, plant 

and equipment. the crude oil future prices are based on December 31, 2009 commodity prices forecast by independent 

reserve engineers adjusted for differentials specific to the Company’s reserves. the following table summarizes the 

benchmark prices used in the ceiling test calculation. Based on these assumptions, the value of future net revenues 

from the Company’s reserves exceeded the carrying value of property, plant and equipment at December 31, 2009.

year Dated Brent Adjusted Crude oil price uS$/bbl

2010  78.50

2011  82.10

2012  85.80

2013  89.70

2014  93.70

2015  97.70

2016  99.70

2017  101.70

Annual escalation thereafter  2%

yemen

the Company has a 50% working interest in the Malik Block 9 Joint Venture in yemen. the Company’s right to produce 

crude oil under the production Sharing Agreement (pSA) continues to 2025, with a provision for a five-year extension. 

the ownership of all assets, tangible and intangible, remains with the yemen authority. 

During 2009, the Company capitalized overhead costs relating to oil and natural gas exploration and development 

activities of $1,242 (2008 – $2,373). In 2009 the Company excluded from capital costs subject to the depletion 

expense calculation an amount of $nil (2008 – $16,363) in respect of the capital costs incurred for processing 

facilities under construction until December 2008. Costs related to processing facilities have been included in costs 

subject to depletion beginning in December 2008, which is when the facilities were available for use. 

ethiopia

During 2008, the Company signed a production Sharing Contract (pSC) with the government of the Federal Democratic 

republic of ethiopia on the Metema and Gimbi Blocks covering a total area of 11.5 million acres. 

Costs incurred during 2009 related to initial exploration efforts. Costs incurred during 2008 were related to the signing 

of the pSC. properties in ethiopia are unproved and the costs incurred of $639 (2008 – $342) have been excluded from 

costs subject to depletion and depreciation. 

canada

existing properties are comprised of a working interest in one property in Saskatchewan and overriding royalties.



53

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Financial Figures in text and tables expressed in thousands of united States Dollars) December 31, 2009 and 2008

2009 AnnuAl report

9. share caPital

(a) Common Shares

Authorized:

unlimited number of Class A Common Voting Shares.

Issued: 

2009 number amount ($)

Class A Common Voting Shares

Shares outstanding, beginning of year 100,265,602 118,243

Issued on the exercise of options (i) 563,300 776

Contributed surplus reclassified on exercise of options (i) – 452

repurchased and cancelled (ii) (2,610,918) (3,084)

Balance, end of year 98,217,984 116,387

year ended December 31, 2009:

(i)  the Company issued 563,300 Class A Common Voting Shares upon the exercise of options for proceeds of 
$776. An amount of $452 related to stock-based compensation expensed in prior years was reclassified from 
contributed surplus to share capital in connection with options exercised in 2009.

(ii)  the Company repurchased 2,610,918 of its common shares pursuant to its normal Course Issuer Bid at a cost of 
$3,342. the cost to repurchase common shares at prices in excess of their average book value has been charged 
to retained earnings and to contributed surplus. the cost to repurchase shares at prices below their average book 

value has been credited to contributed surplus.

2008 number Amount ($) 

Class A Common Voting Shares

Shares outstanding, beginning of year 101,430,498 119,485

Issued on the exercise of options (i) 440,000 514

Contributed surplus reclassified on exercise of options (i) – 137

repurchased and cancelled (ii) (1,604,896) (1,893)

Balance, end of year 100,265,602 118,243

year ended December 31, 2008:

(i)  the Company issued 440,000 Class A Common Voting Shares upon the exercise of options for proceeds of 
$514. An amount of $137 related to stock-based compensation expensed in prior years was reclassified from 
contributed surplus to share capital in connection with options exercised in 2008.

(ii)  the Company repurchased 1,604,896 of its common shares pursuant to its normal Course Issuer Bid at a cost of 
$4,822. the cost to repurchase common shares at prices in excess of their average book value has been charged 
to retained earnings. the cost to repurchase shares at prices below their average book value has been credited 
to contributed surplus.
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(b) Stock Options

the Company’s restated stock option plan, as approved effective May 21, 2006, provides for the issue of stock options 

to directors, officers, employees and consultants. Vesting terms are determined by the Board of Directors as they 

are granted and currently include periods ranging from immediately to evenly over three or five years. the options’ 

maximum term is five years (10 years for options granted prior to october 1, 2001).

In 2009 a total of 9,821,798 (2008 – 10,026,560) shares have been reserved for issue under this plan. options which 

are forfeited are available for reissue.

the following is a continuity of stock options outstanding:

 2009 2008

  weighted average  Weighted Average
 options exercise Price options exercise price
 (000s)  c$ (000s) C$

opening balance 4,358 3.66 2,970 3.15

Granted 945 1.76 2,515 3.57

Forfeited (645) 3.52 (687) 6.05

exercised (563) 1.58 (440) 1.15

ending balance 4,095 3.53 4,358 3.66

Stock options outstanding at December 31, 2009 were as follows:

 number of options (000s) Weighted Average
Granted exercisable exercise price – C$ year of expiry

 75 75 1.60 2010

 805 805 4.08 2010

 50 50 0.90 2011

 75 75 6.86 2011

 260 227 7.01 2012

 510 228 1.60 2013

 1,475 1,092 4.29 2013

 645 150 1.66 2014

 200 – 2.22 2014

 4,095 2,701 3.53 
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During 2009, stock-based compensation costs of $928 (2008 – $2,789) were expensed and credited to contributed 

surplus. the fair value of the options granted in 2009 was C$910 (2008 – C$4,889) or C$0.96 per option  

(2008 – C$1.94 per option) using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:

 2009 2008

risk-free interest rate 1.6% - 2.5% 2.88% - 4.5%

expected hold period to exercise 5 years 5 years

Volatility in the price of the Company’s shares 70% - 71% 66% - 85%

Dividend yield nil nil

10. contriButeD surPlus

 2009 2008

 $ $

opening balance 6,772 4,019

Stock-based compensation 928 2,789

Stock-based compensation associated with exercised options  (452) (137)

Shares repurchased and cancelled  (102) 101

Closing balance 7,146 6,772

11. caPital Disclosure

the Company defines and computes its capital employed as follows:

 2009 2008

 $ $

Shareholders’ equity 161,771 159,458

long-term debt – –

Cash and cash equivalents (20,043)  (20,989)

GICs  (50,383)  (42,746)

total capital 91,345 95,723

the Company’s objectives in managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 

so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. the Company sets the 

amount of capital in proportion to risk. the Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the 

light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or 

adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to 

shareholders, issue or repurchase shares, incur debt or sell assets to reduce debt.

the Company currently has no requirement for debt financing and has not required debt financing over the last two 

completed fiscal years. the objectives and strategy for utilizing capital are monitored to provide the appropriate capital 

structure for the risk profile of corporate objectives.

the Company has no debt and therefore has no financial covenants.
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12. incoMe taxes

the provision for income taxes differs from the calculated tax obtained by applying the combined statutory Canadian 

federal and provincial tax rates to the loss before income taxes as follows:

 2009 2008

 $ $

Applicable tax rate  29.0% 29.5%

provision for income taxes computed at the Canadian statutory rate 1,767 7,016

Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from:

 non-deductible stock-based compensation 269 823

 Change in valuation allowance net of foreign exchange (431) (685)

 Income tax rate changes – 1,344

 Difference in foreign jurisdiction tax rate 928 1,525

 recognition of cost recovery pool 537 (5,282)

 other 73 (119)

Income tax expense 3,143 4,622

the Company has non-capital losses of $13,488 available to carry forward for deduction against future years’ Canadian 

taxable income. these losses, the benefit of which has not been recognized in these financial statements, expire in 

the following years:

  

  $

2010  1,269

2014  899

2015  893

2026  2,616

2027  4,151

2028  3,660

  13,488

the significant components of the Company’s Canadian future income tax assets are as follows: 

 2009 2008

 $ $

Differences between tax bases and reported amounts of depreciable  
 assets and resource properties, net of asset retirement obligations 4,092 3,495

non-capital loss carry-forwards 3,372 2,706

Share issue costs 316 847

total future tax assets 7,780 7,049

less: valuation allowance (7,780) (7,049) 

Future income taxes – –
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13. suPPleMental cash Flow inForMation

 2009 2008

 $ $

Changes in non-cash working capital

Accounts receivable 472 5,195

Due from joint venture partners 6,086 12,288

oil inventory 1,561 (1,649)

prepaid expenses (60) (102)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,527 (11,222)

Deferred revenue (3,255) 3,255

 7,331 7,765

Changes in non-cash working capital

operating activities 371 6,136

Investing activities 6,960 1,629

 7,331 7,765

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company paid $nil in interest (2008 – $nil) and $nil in taxes  

(2008 – $nil). yemen income taxes are paid to the government through its allocation of oil under the pSA.

14. geograPhical inForMation

the Company has defined its continuing operations as oil and natural gas operations. the majority of the Company’s oil 

and natural gas operations are located in yemen with lesser operations in ethiopia and Canada. 

Segmented information is as follows:

year ended December 31, 2009 ethiopia yemen canada total

 $ $ $ $

revenue – 51,086 940 52,026

property, plant and equipment (year-end) 639 89,236 191 90,066

year ended December 31, 2008 ethiopia yemen Canada total

 $ $ $ $

revenue – 75,236 1,563 76,799

property, plant and equipment (year-end) 342 83,131 210 83,683
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15. Per share aMounts

In calculating basic and diluted earnings per share, the following weighted average numbers of shares were used:

($000s) 2009 2008

 $ $

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 98,926 101,034

Dilutive effect of stock options 201 800

Weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding 99,127 101,834

A total of 2,915,000 options were not in the money and were excluded from the dilutive calculation in 2009  

(2008 – 3,035,000). 

16. Financial instruMents anD risk ManageMent

carrying values and estimated Fair values of Financial assets and liabilities

the Company has classified its cash and cash equivalents and GICs as assets held for trading which are measured 

at fair value with changes being recognized in net income. Accounts receivable and amounts due from joint venture 

partners are classified as loans and receivables, which are measured at amortized cost. Accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities and are measured at amortized cost.

the carrying value and fair value of financial assets and liabilities are summarized as follows:

  Carrying  Fair  
Classification Value ($)  Value ($)

Financial assets held for trading  70,426  70,426

loans and receivables  11,933  11,933

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 12,220 12,220

credit risk 

the majority of the accounts receivable are in respect of oil and natural gas operations and are due from the Company’s 

joint venture partners or its customer for oil sales. Management believes the risk is mitigated by the size and reputation 

of the companies to which the Company extends credit. the Company has not experienced any material credit loss in 

the collection of accounts receivable to date.

the Company is currently under contract to sell all of its production to one purchaser until July 1, 2010. the selling 

price is based on the quoted Dated Brent price on the date of shipment adjusted for the official selling price differential 

posted by the Government of yemen. At December 31, 2009, $2,771 (December 31, 2008 – $3,255) was receivable 

under the contract and this amount was received subsequent to the end of the year, in January 2010. payment is 

secured by a guarantee issued by the purchaser’s parent company. the Company has an option to extend the contract 

on the same terms for a further 12 months.

the Company funds capital and operating costs and bills joint venture partners their share of those costs. In the event 

that a joint venture partner was incapable of fulfilling its obligation to pay its share of the costs, the Company could, 

under the terms of the joint operating agreement, recover the costs from the joint venture partner’s share of proceeds 

from crude oil sales.
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trade and other receivables from continuing operations are analyzed in the table below. With respect to the trade and 

other receivables that are neither impaired nor past due, there are no indications as of the reporting date that the 

debtors will not meet their payment obligations.

trade and other receivables at December 31, 2009

neither impaired nor past due  $11,933

Impaired (net of valuation allowance)  –

not impaired and past due in the following period:

 Within 30 days  –

 31-60 days  –

 61-90 days  –

 over 90 days  –

interest rate risk

the Company has exposure to interest rate risk as it relates to investments in GICs. Interest rate risk relates to the risk 

that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest 

rates. the Company incurs interest rate risk on its cash and cash equivalents, and GICs. All cash balances are current 

and available immediately. the Company does not hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. A 100-basis-point increase 

in interest rates during 2009 would have increased net income by approximately $547 ($0.01/share).

liquidity risk

liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due. liquidity 

describes a company’s ability to access cash. Companies operating in the upstream oil and natural gas industry require 

sufficient cash in order to fund capital programs necessary to maintain and increase production and proved reserves, to 

acquire strategic oil and natural gas assets, and to repay debt. the Company actively monitors its cash requirements 

to ensure it has sufficient available funds to meet current and foreseeable financial requirements at a reasonable cost. 

the Company prepares annual capital expenditure budgets, which are regularly monitored and updated as considered 

necessary. the Company also utilizes authorizations for expenditures to further manage capital expenditures.

the Company’s obligations coming due in the next 12 months are accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $12,220. 

In addition, the Company has commitments under existing agreements as described in note 17. Given the Company’s 

working capital position, management assesses liquidity risk as being low.

In determining the fair value of financial instruments, the Company maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes 

the use of unobservable inputs. observable inputs reflect market-driven or market-based information obtained from 

independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect the Company’s estimate about market data. Based on the 

observability of significant inputs used, the Company classifies its fair value measurements in accordance with a  

three-level hierarchy. this hierarchy is based on the quality and reliability of the information used to determine fair 

value, as follows:

level 1:  Valuations are based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Since the valuations 

are based on quoted prices that are readily available in an active market, they are not subject to significant 

measurement uncertainty.
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level 2: Valuations are based on observable inputs other than quoted prices.

level 3:  Valuations are based on at least one unobservable input that is supported by little or no market activity and 

is significant to the fair value measurement.

In assigning financial instruments to the appropriate levels, the Company performs detailed analysis. In certain cases, 

the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. the level within which the 

fair value measurement is categorized is based on the lowest-level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 

in its entirety. 

As at December 31, 2009, the Company’s fair value measurement of held for trading assets was conducted using level 

1 of the hierarchy.

commodity Price risk Management 

While the Company is exposed to business risk associated with fluctuations in the price of crude oil, the Company 

does not hold financial instruments whose fair values are susceptible to variability resulting from changes in the price 

of crude oil. 

Foreign exchange risk

the Company holds substantially all of its cash, cash and equivalents and GICs at one financial institution in Canada. 

the Company invests its cash reserves in GICs issued by an Alberta credit union which deposits are guaranteed by 

the province of Alberta. Approximately $1,569 of the $20,043 cash and cash equivalents is held in Canadian-dollar-

denominated accounts. As such, the Company is exposed to foreign currency risk. the impact to net income of a 10% 

change in the foreign exchange rates between the Canadian and united States dollars during 2009 would have been 

approximately $117 ($0.00/share).

17. coMMitMents 

the Company is committed to operating leases for office space with payments due and to its proportionate share of 

various allowances and bonus payments to the Government of yemen. 

2010  $546

2011  $267

2012  $246

In addition to the payments indicated above, the Company is obligated to pay to the Government of yemen its 50% 

proportionate share of a $2,000, a $3,000 and a $4,000 bonus payment when sustainable production exceeds 25,000, 

75,000 and 100,000 barrels of oil per day, respectively. 

the Company is also committed to pay a royalty of $1.25 per barrel of oil produced from the yemen properties to an 

arm’s-length party until its commitment to pay these royalties has been satisfied. the total commitment outstanding 

at December 31, 2009 under this obligation is approximately $2,727 (December 31, 2008 – $3,315).

As part of the pSC with the ethiopian government, the Company has entered into certain commitments to spend 

approximately $8.5 million during the first four years of its work program.
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18. contingencies

the Company has been named in a claim filed in the Commercial Court of yemen by a Saudi Arabian company. the 

claimant alleges that, pursuant to an agency agreement entered into in 1996, it is entitled to a percentage of the net 

profit attributable to the Company. over the past several months, this issue has been referred between the Commercial 

Court of yemen, the yemeni Court of Appeal and the Supreme Court of yemen on a number of procedural issues and 

has now been sent back to the Supreme Court of yemen for reassessment. Interim judgments have been issued 

and both parties appealed an initial ruling which limited the plaintiff’s entitlement to an interest on the net profit 

from profit oil production prior to February, 2008. Calvalley has cross-appealed on a number of matters of substance  

and procedure. 

the Company’s legal advisors in Sana’a and Calgary are pursuing the appeal jointly. the outcome of the action in the 

Supreme Court of yemen is undeterminable at this time. no amounts have been accrued in the financial statements for 

the year ended December 31, 2009 as the ultimate resolution is uncertain. the Company will record any amounts due, 

if any, once the outcome of the contingency is likely and estimable.

Between 2004 and 2007, the Company billed its Block 9 joint venture partners (JV partners) for fees in accordance 

with the terms of the pSA which governs the joint venture operating activities on Block 9. the JV partners contend 

that certain of these fees are not billable under the terms of the Joint operating Agreement (JoA) between the 

Company and the JV partners. pending resolution of this matter, the Company has not charged the JV partners for 

the fees in question during 2008 and 2009. the Company and its JV partners have agreed in principle to enter 

into a binding expert determination to interpret the terms of the JoA and rule on whether the fees in question 

are billable. While management is not able to determine the likelihood of a positive or negative outcome, the 

maximum liability to the Company related to fees charged from 2004 to 2007 is $1,011. Conversely, should the  

fees be deemed billable, the Company would recover fees which have not previously been recorded in the accounts in the  

amount of $623.

19. relateD-Party transaction

on June 10, 2009, the Company advanced $113 to a member of its Board of Directors. the advance was included in 

accounts receivable, was non-interest-bearing, repayable within 90 days, and was secured by shares of the Company. 

the advance was repaid in full during August 2009.
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aBBreviations

Bbls barrels of oil

Mbbls thousand barrels

Bopd barrels of oil per day

Km kilometre

Km2 square kilometre

Mmcf million cubic feet

Mmcf/d million cubic feet per day

Forward looking statements
this Annual report contains certain forward-looking statements. Some of the statements contained herein 
including, without limitation, financial and business prospects and financial outlooks of the Company, may be 
forward-looking statements which reflect management’s expectations regarding future plans and intentions, 
growth, results of operations, performance and business prospects and opportunities. Words such as “may”, 
“will”, “should”, “could”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “expect”, “intend”, “plan”, “potential”, “continue”, and 
similar expressions have been used to identify these forward-looking statements. these statements reflect 
management’s current beliefs and are based on information currently available to management. Forward-
looking statements involve significant risk and uncertainties. A number of factors could cause actual results 
to differ materially from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements including, but not limited 
to, changes in general economic, political and market conditions and other risk factors. Although the 
forward-looking statements contained herein are based upon what management believes to be reasonable 
assumptions, management cannot assure that actual results will be consistent with these forward-looking 
statements. Investors should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. these forward-looking 
statements are made as of the date hereof.

Forward-looking statements and other information contained herein concerning the oil and natural gas 
industry and Calvalley’s general expectations concerning this industry are based on estimates prepared by 
management using data from publicly available industry sources as well as from reserve reports, market 
research and industry analysis and on assumptions based on data and knowledge of this industry which 
Calvalley believes to be reasonable. However, this data is inherently imprecise, although generally indicative 
of relative market positions, market shares and performance characteristics. While Calvalley is not aware of 
any misstatements regarding any industry data presented herein, the industry involves risks and uncertainties 
and is subject to change based on various factors. See “risk Factors.” 

Calvalley does not undertake any obligation to update publicly or revise any forward-looking statements 
contained in this or in any other document filed with Canadian securities regulatory authorities, whether as a 
result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by applicable securities laws.
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